Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: February 6, 2015 REVISED: May 22, 2015 ACCEPTED: June 11, 2015 PUBLISHED: July 9, 2015

# Moduli dynamics as a predictive tool for thermal maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills at large ${\cal N}$

Takeshi Morita,<sup>*a,b*</sup> Shotaro Shiba,<sup>*c*</sup> Toby Wiseman<sup>*d*</sup> and Benjamin Withers<sup>*e*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Physics, Shizuoka University, 836 Ohya, Suruga-ku, Shizuoka 422-8529, Japan

- <sup>b</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY 40506, U.S.A.
- <sup>c</sup> Maskawa Institute for Science and Culture, Kyoto Sangyo University, Kamigamo-Motoyama, Kita-ku, Kyoto 603-8555, Japan
- <sup>d</sup> Theoretical Physics Group, Blackett Laboratory, Imperial College, Exhibition Road, London SW7 2AZ, U.K.

<sup>e</sup>Mathematical Sciences and STAG Research Centre, University of Southampton, Highfield, Southampton SO17 1BJ, U.K.

*E-mail:* morita.takeshi@shizuoka.ac.jp, sshiba@cc.kyoto-su.ac.jp, t.wiseman@ic.ac.uk, b.s.withers@soton.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: Maximally supersymmetric (p + 1)-dimensional Yang-Mills theory at large Nand finite temperature, with possibly compact spatial directions, has a rich phase structure. Strongly coupled phases may have holographic descriptions as black branes in various string duality frames, or there may be no gravity dual. In this paper we provide tools in the gauge theory which give a simple and unified picture of the various strongly coupled phases, and transitions between them. Building on our previous work we consider the effective theory describing the moduli of the gauge theory, which can be computed precisely when it is weakly coupled far out on the Coulomb branch. Whilst for perturbation theory naive extrapolation from weak coupling to strong gives little information, for this moduli theory naive extrapolation from its weakly to its strongly coupled regime appears to encode a surprising amount of information about the various strongly coupled phases. We argue it encodes not only the parametric form of thermodynamic quantities for these strongly coupled phases, but also certain transcendental factors with a geometric origin, and allows one to deduce transitions between the phases. We emphasise it also gives predictions for the behaviour of other observables in these phases.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes in String Theory, Brane Dynamics in Gauge Theories, Gaugegravity correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 1412.3939



## Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Review of effective moduli theory for thermal maximally supersymmet	ric
	Yang-Mills	4
	2.1 The perturbative limit	5
	2.2 Moduli dynamics from a weakly coupled regime on the Coulomb branch	5
	2.3 Recovering the dual black D <i>p</i> -brane phase	8
	2.4 $\alpha'$ corrections to the D <i>p</i> -brane phase	14
	2.5 Predictions for other observables	15
	2.6 Horizon size	17
	2.7 The Hagedorn case $p = 5$	18
3	SYM on a spatial circle	19
	3.1 $Dp$ -branes winding a circle	19
4	Very strong coupling: beyond the 't Hooft regime	23
	4.1 $p = 1$ : free orbifold CFT	25
	4.2 $p = 2$ : M2 brane transition on the 11-circle	26
	4.3 $p = 0$ : D0-brane bound states	27
	4.4 $p = 3$ : S-duality	28
	4.5 $p = 4, 5, 6$	29
	4.6 Summary	29
5	Outlook	30
A	Summary of thermal phases for $(p + 1)$ -SYM on a circle	31
	A.1 Two-dimensional SYM theory on a circle	31
	A.2 Other SYM theories on a circle	35
	A.2.1 3d SYM	35
	A.2.2 4d SYM	36
	A.2.3 5d SYM	37
	A.2.4 6d SYM	38
	A.2.5 7d SYM	40
	A.3 Notes: relation of fields on M5/NS5/D5/KKM	42
в	Moduli one-loop action with a compact spatial circle	43
С	Moduli theory and the boosted Schwarzschild black hole	47
	C.1 Boosted Schwarzschild black hole on a circle	47
	C.2 Boosted Schwarzschild black hole from moduli theory	48

#### 1 Introduction

The holographic correspondence [1, 2] is one of the most important discoveries in string theory. It establishes two important lines of enquiry. Firstly it allows the analysis of strongly coupled phases of gauge theory through our understanding of semiclassical gravity, and secondly it allows investigation of the quantum aspects of gravity via direct computation in gauge theory.

Gravity analyses have revealed remarkable properties of supersymmetric gauge theories. For example, the thermal energy density,  $\epsilon$ , of (p+1)-dimensional large-N maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills (SYM) theories at strong coupling  $(1 \ll \lambda_p/T^{3-p} \ll N^{\frac{2(5-p)}{7-p}})$ are predicted by gauge/gravity duality to be precisely the same as that due to the semiclassical thermodynamics of a black Dp-brane, and hence  $\epsilon = a_p N^2 T^{\frac{2(7-p)}{5-p}} \lambda_p^{-\frac{3-p}{5-p}}$  where  $\lambda_p$ is the 't Hooft coupling, and  $a_p$  is a known constant. This behaviour is quite distinct both from the Stefan-Boltzmann law ( $\epsilon \sim N^2 T^{p+1}$ ) of weak coupling, or confining behaviour  $\epsilon \sim O(N^0)$  typical of non-supersymmetric gauge theories. Likewise, for the (2+1)- and (5+1)-dimensional superconformal field theories describing the low energy dynamics of M2 and M5 branes, holographic duality predicts from a black brane analysis that the thermal energy densities go as  $\sim N^{3/2}T^3$  and  $\sim N^3T^6$  respectively. Such gravity calculations have not only allowed thermodynamic behaviour of these supersymmetric gauge theories to be precisely determined, but also have shown these behaviours are not those familiar in other gauge theory settings.

Ideally we would like to be able to compute these thermodynamic behaviours directly in the gauge theory. However, failing that, we would like to have a gauge theoretic understanding of how they arise. Unfortunately a naive extrapolation of weak coupling perturbation theory provides little insight into this, as clearly the perturbative behaviour  $\epsilon \sim N^2 T^{p+1}$ bears little resemblance to the behaviour above for black *p*-branes. Hope was glimpsed in the special conformal case of p = 3, where weak and strong coupling do indeed have the same functional dependence on *N* and *T*, differing only by a factor of 4/3 [3, 4]. However, as we see, this is a peculiarity of the conformal case, and in general the situation is more complicated. Indeed for the conformal ABJM theory of M2 branes weak coupling predicts  $\epsilon \sim N^2 T^3$ . Now the temperature dependence agrees with black M2-branes, due again to conformal symmetry, but the *N* dependence is wrong.

The challenge then is to find new ways to compute thermal behaviour at strong coupling. One promising analytic approach, explored for p = 0 is a method analogous to the mean field approximation [5–7], although recent work indicates that one still cannot see the above thermal behaviour [8]. Numerical approaches were initiated for p = 0 in [9–12] and confirmed the behaviour predicted by gravity, with the latest results being [13, 14]. For p = 1 numerical evidence [15] also supports predictions from gravity. Other numerical approaches have focussed on dynamics within the thermal setting [16]. These numerical approaches are a very exciting prospect for the future, but are unlikely to shed light on *why* the above behaviours emerge at strong coupling. The purpose of this paper is to present a simple, yet predictive approach, that using direct calculation only in gauge theory allows one to understand the origin of the important features of the strong coupled thermal behaviour. The approach we take builds on our recent work exploiting the special fact that the theories we are considering have exact moduli spaces associated to the Coulomb branch vacua. One may derive an effective moduli theory by integrating over the remaining degrees of freedom. This calculation is controlled by being far out on the Coulomb branch, implying these remaining degrees of freedom are very massive. Thus the moduli action can be computed as a weakly coupled loop expansion, although it is worth emphasising this is not the usual perturbative expansion in the 't Hooft or gauge coupling.

The thermal strongly coupled regime does not correspond to these distant regions of the Coulomb branch, and so one must consider this moduli theory to be strongly coupled when describing the thermal physics of interest. The crucial point is that whilst this moduli theory is computed in a weakly coupled regime, naive extrapolation to strong coupling appears to yield results that reflect the behaviour expected from gravity. It has long been known that it encodes the dynamics of a probe brane [17-22], and this played a key role in the identification of M-theory and the holographic correspondence [1, 2]. Non-renormalisation theorems due to the supersymmetry play a crucial role in allowing these weakly coupled results to yield information about strong coupling [23, 24]. Following earlier related ideas in the context of p = 0 [25–28] which considered a somewhat different phase than the one discussed above (associated to M-theory rather than D0-branes), and the work of [29] again for p = 0 which argued one could deduce the temperature dependence of black D0-brane behaviour, it was proposed in [30] that both the N and temperature dependence of all the black Dp-branes could be recovered by naive estimates of the strongly coupled behaviour of the moduli theory. In fact the thermal behaviour of a certain mass deformation of the p = 0theory (the BMN matrix quantum mechanics [31]) was predicted in [30], and this has been very recently confirmed in a dual supergravity analysis [32]. Then [33] argued that using ABJM [34] one could recover the thermal  $N^{3/2}$  dependence of black M2-branes, and even, under modest assumptions about the M5-theory, a thermal  $N^3$  behaviour in that case.

A new development was made in [35], where it was argued that for any black pbrane system, by constructing a field theory derived from considering the dynamics of nearly parallel branes weakly interacting gravitationally, then naive thermal estimates at strong coupling would yield the entire dependence on all physical parameters of the energy density, and further related the vevs of scalars in the field theory to the horizon radius of the black brane. Rather mysteriously it also allows certain transcendental factors with a geometric origin to be deduced. In the cases where the branes have a known gauge theoretic description (Dp and M2), this field theory was a subset of the full moduli theory, precisely due to the fact mentioned above that these moduli theories reproduce gravity dynamics. More recently [36] have applied these ideas to the D1-D5-P system to correctly reproduce the parametric dependence of the free energy on temperature, including certain transcendental factors. This generalisation to an intersecting brane system using the same methods of estimation in fact works despite important differences from the coincident brane case, and we regard it as good evidence for the validity of this approach.

In this paper we study the full moduli effective theory of maximally supersymmetric (p + 1)-dimensional Yang-Mills at finite temperature, focusing on the bosonic sector, and also with a compact spatial direction. In addition to the phase described by a dual black

D*p*-brane there are other regimes of the theory, some with black brane gravity duals related by S-duality or a lift to M-theory, and others without gravity dual [2, 37]. We also consider compactifying the theory on a spatial circle, which allows for phase transitions with dual Gregory-Laflamme descriptions [38–42]. Using the ideas of [35], we argue that the moduli theory encodes all the strongly coupled phases, and also predicts where transitions will occur. Furthermore it allows not only the behaviour of the energy density to be found, but also predicts the behaviour of other observables, such as the Polyakov-Maldacena loop. In addition, the moduli effective theory reproduces not only the dynamics of the dual D*p*branes as discussed in [35], but also encodes correctly the dynamics of the M2, M5, F1 and NS5 branes that are dual in certain parameter regimes.

This paper is arranged as follows. We begin in section 2 by discussing the effective moduli approach to study the strongly coupled thermal phases of SYM theory. This section considers the large N regime where the temperature is of order one in units of the 't Hooft coupling - this is the regime where the black Dp-brane is the gravity dual. Then in section 3 we show how the moduli theory is modified when the SYM has a spatial direction that is compact. We argue that the moduli theory then correctly predicts a transition in thermal behaviour which is dual to the gravity Gregory-Laflamme phase transition. In section 4 we discuss the corrections to the moduli theory that become relevant at very strong coupling, where the temperature in units of the 't Hooft coupling scales with a power of N. We argue that the wave predicted by gravity may be understood directly in the moduli theory. The main result of these discussions is that the strongly coupled phases of the SYM phase diagrams, with a compact spatial direction, can be elucidated simply by the moduli theory. In contrast the dual description is very complicated involving many different dual gravity theories, branes and transitions. This entire picture is discussed in detail in the appendix A. We conclude the paper with a discussion in section 5.

## 2 Review of effective moduli theory for thermal maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills

We review the derivation of the moduli theories for (p + 1)-dimensional maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills theories. We then review how this theory encodes the dynamics of weakly interacting D*p*-branes and how a naive extrapolation to strong coupling yields the thermal behaviour of black D*p*-branes of the holographic gravity dual [35]. The (p + 1)dimensional maximally supersymmetric U(N) Yang-Mills theory has an action,

$$S_{\text{SYM}} = \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \int dt d^p x \operatorname{Tr} \left[ -\frac{1}{4} \mathbf{F}_{\mu\nu}^2 - \frac{1}{2} D^\mu \mathbf{\Phi}^I D_\mu \mathbf{\Phi}^I + \frac{1}{4} \left[ \mathbf{\Phi}^I, \mathbf{\Phi}^J \right]^2 \right] + \text{fermions}$$
(2.1)

where the scalar fields  $\mathbf{\Phi}^{I}$  (I = 1, 2, ..., 9 - p) and gauge field  $\mathbf{A}^{\mu}$   $(\mu = 0, ..., p)$  are  $N \times N$  hermitian matrices transforming in the adjoint of the gauge group.  $\lambda_{p}$  is the 't Hooft coupling defined as

$$\lambda_p \equiv g_{YM}^2 N = (2\pi)^{p-2} N g_s(\alpha')^{\frac{p-3}{2}}$$
(2.2)

where  $g_s$  and  $\alpha'$  are the string coupling and the Regge slope respectively.

Consider the thermodynamics of this theory on flat space and finite temperature T. Then the theory has two dimensionless parameters: the dimensionless effective coupling

$$\lambda_{\text{eff}} = \lambda_p T^{p-3} \,, \tag{2.3}$$

and N. We focus on the large-N limit where thermodynamical properties are determined by the strength of this effective coupling  $\lambda_{\text{eff}}$ .<sup>1</sup> We note that for p = 3 the theory is famously conformal. For p > 3 the theory becomes subtle due to its non-renormalizability. However, various arguments in string theory indicate that at least for p = 4,5 the theory may have a good UV completion and hence can be thought of as an effective low energy description of a more fundamental theory on the world volume of D*p*-branes [2]. Whilst for completeness we will also consider the p = 6 case, we emphasise that it is likely there is no decoupled world volume description for D6-branes.

#### 2.1 The perturbative limit

In the weak coupling region ( $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \ll 1$ ) one may perform the standard QFT weak coupling perturbation around  $\Phi^I = 0$ . Through a dimensional analysis, we can estimate the thermal energy density  $\epsilon$  and the scale of the scalar fields as<sup>2</sup>

$$\epsilon \sim N^2 T^{p+1}, \qquad \Phi \sim \sqrt{\lambda_{\text{eff}}} T.$$
 (2.4)

Here we see the Stefan-Boltzmann law mentioned above for the energy density. The coupling dependence of the scalar is obtained by renormalizing the scalar to the canonical one, and the  $N^2$  is determined by the number of UV degrees of freedom. As emphasised in the introduction, a naive extrapolation of these formulae into the regime where  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \gg 1$  fails to reproduce the behaviour of the theory that we deduce from holographic arguments.

#### 2.2 Moduli dynamics from a weakly coupled regime on the Coulomb branch

At zero temperature the maximally supersymmetric theory admits an exact moduli space, parameterized by the scalar field  $\mathbf{\Phi}^{I}$  hermitian matrices being constant and commuting. We may write such vacua as,

$$(\mathbf{A}^{\mu})_{ab} = a^{\mu}_{a}\delta_{ab} , \quad (\mathbf{\Phi}^{I})_{ab} = \phi^{I}_{a}\delta_{ab} , \quad \mathbf{\Psi}^{\alpha}_{ab} = 0$$
(2.5)

where  $\phi_a^I$  are constants parameterizing the breaking of  $U(N) \to U(1)^N$ , and we have also included constant commuting gauge fields parameterized by the constants  $a^{\mu}$ . Such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We note that as argued in [2, 43] the gravity analyses show that the canonical ensemble may not be well defined for  $p \geq 5$ . In these cases a natural dimensionless parameter is  $\lambda_p \chi^{p-3}$  rather than  $\lambda_{\text{eff}}$ , where  $\chi$  is the characteristic scale of the adjoint scalars.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>These dimensional arguments are naive as we have ignored IR divergences. Especially for p = 0, D0-branes can dilute and the free energy diverges [8, 9, 44]. This is a weakly coupled moduli regime we will discuss in section 2.2. However D0-branes can compose a bound state too and the quantities scale as  $\epsilon \sim N^2 T$  and  $\Phi \sim (\lambda_0 T)^{1/4}$  for small  $\lambda_{\text{eff}}$  [41, 45]. Indeed the scaling for the scalar differs from the naive dimensional analysis (2.4) due to the large fluctuations of the thermal zero modes. This bound state would be stable if we take the strict large-N limit, and would continue to strong coupling regime where the thermodynamics agree with black D0 brane.

a vacuum configuration encodes a mass scale,  $|\vec{\phi}_{ab}|$ , due to the separation of the scalars where we have introduced the vector notation  $\phi_a^I \leftrightarrow \vec{\phi}_a$ , thinking of the moduli as being valued as vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^{9-p}$ . We have further introduced the notation  $\vec{\phi}_{ab} = \vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b$  and will likewise use  $a_{ab}^{\mu} = a_a^{\mu} - a_b^{\mu}$ . Consequently fluctuations about this configuration can be thought of as being light with respect to this scale, or heavy and of this scale. Since we have a moduli space of vacua, there are light modes which describe the dynamics of these moduli, namely the long wavelength fluctuations in the parameters of the vacuum,  $a_a^{\mu}$  and  $\phi_a^I$ , the diagonal components of the bosonic fields. Conversely the off-diagonal excitations of the fields are massive, with a scale set by  $\sim |\vec{\phi}_{ab}|$ . In the limit where this mass scale is suitably large, far out on the Coulomb branch, we might hope to integrate out the off diagonal degrees of freedom and generate an effective theory for the moduli fields.

Now consider finite temperature T. Provided we consider  $|\phi_{ab}| \gg T$ , then the same picture applies. We may separate the light degrees of freedom, which are still the fluctuations in  $a_a^{\mu}$  and  $\phi_a^I$ , and consider their effective theory from integrating out the remaining off diagonal degrees of freedom. The difference is that now the moduli theory will itself be at finite temperature, and will receive additional temperature dependent corrections.

If the corrections to the classical moduli action from integration over the massive degrees of freedom are weak then the moduli would have a free thermal behaviour

$$\epsilon \sim N T^{p+1} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

However this free thermal behaviour, having entropy going as O(N), would be dominated by the typical  $O(N^2)$  entropy of large-N gauge theories.<sup>3</sup> This may imply that this free thermal behaviour is unstable if we turn on the interactions for the moduli.

The loop expansion for the calculation of the interactions is controlled by the dimensionless couplings  $\lambda_p/|\vec{\phi}_{ab}|^{3-p}$  and we emphasise that it can be computed for all p (including the subtle  $p \geq 3$  cases). It is important to understand that this computation, while weakly coupled, is quite distinct from the usual perturbation theory. For example, for  $p \leq 3$  here we may consistently have  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \gg 1$ , and regain control provided that  $\lambda_p/|\vec{\phi}_{ab}|^{3-p} \ll 1$ , so that we are far enough out on the Coulomb branch. Integrating out the massive degrees of freedom, one obtains the finite temperature effective moduli theory,

$$S_{\text{eff}}^{\text{SYM}} = S_{\text{cl}}^{\text{SYM}} + S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{SYM}} + S_{\text{two-loop}}^{\text{SYM}} + \cdots, \qquad (2.7)$$
$$S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{SYM}} = S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{non-thermal}} + S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{thermal}}.$$

Here  $S_{\rm cl}^{\rm SYM}$  is the classical term directly from the original action (2.1),

$$S_{\rm cl}^{\rm SYM} = \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \int d\tau d^p x \sum_{a=1}^N \left( \frac{1}{2} (\partial \vec{\phi}_a)^2 + \frac{1}{4} (F_a^{\mu\nu})^2 + \text{fermions} \right)$$
$$= \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \int d\tau d^p x \sum_{a=1}^N \left( \frac{1}{4} (F_a^{MN})^2 + \text{fermions} \right)$$
(2.8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For p = 0 the moduli may behave as free particles, and the entropy may show IR divergences and dominate. See also footnote 2.

where  $F^a_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu}a^a_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}a^a_{\mu}$ . Here we have introduced 10-dimensional SYM notation, where  $F^a_{MN}$   $(M = (\mu, I))$  is the field strength of the 10-dimensional SYM theory. Through classical dimensional reduction this can be viewed as the parent of our (p+1)-dimensional theory, where scalar fields are encoded in the extra gauge components in 10-dimensions,  $A^I = \phi^I$ , so,

$$F^a_{MN}F^a_{MN} = 2\partial_\mu \vec{\phi}_a \cdot \partial^\mu \vec{\phi}_a + F^a_{\mu\nu}F^a_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.9)

Since we are interested in finite temperature we consider the theory in Euclidean time,  $\tau$ , periodically identifying  $\tau \sim \tau + 1/T$ . Whilst there is no explicit temperature dependence in the classical part of the moduli action (2.8), we emphasise that these light moduli fields 'feel' the finite temperature due to this periodicity of Euclidean time.<sup>4</sup>

The weakly coupled massive modes yield loop corrections.  $S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{SYM}}$  are the quantum and thermal corrections induced by the one-loop integral of the off-diagonal components. The quantum contribution that arises at zero temperature, which we therefore term 'nonthermal', takes the form (again using the 10-d SYM notation),<sup>5</sup>

$$S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{non-thermal}} = -\frac{(2\pi)^{4-p}}{32(7-p)\Omega_{8-p}}$$

$$\times \int d\tau d^{p}x \sum_{a < b} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - (F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab})^{2}}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ab}\right|^{7-p}} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{(F_{MN}^{ab})^{2}}{\phi_{ab}^{4}}\right)\right)$$
(2.10)

for small  $(F_{MN}^{ab})^2/\phi_{ab}^4$ , and where again we use the notation  $F_{MN}^{ab} \equiv F_{MN}^a - F_{MN}^b$ . Here  $\Omega_{8-p} (\equiv 2\pi^{\frac{9-p}{2}}/\Gamma(\frac{9-p}{2}))$  is the volume of a unit (8-p) sphere. We may explicitly expand in terms of (p+1)-fields,

$$F^{ab}_{MN}F^{ab}_{NL}F^{ab}_{LK}F^{ab}_{KM} = 2\left(\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}_{ab}\cdot\partial_{\nu}\vec{\phi}_{ab}\right)^{2} + 4\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}_{ab}\cdot\partial_{\nu}\vec{\phi}_{ab}F^{ab}_{\mu\rho}F^{ab}_{\nu\rho}F^{ab}_{\mu\nu}F^{ab}_{\rho\kappa}F^{ab}_{\kappa\mu}.$$
 (2.11)

We note there is no explicit temperature dependence, but as with the classical terms periodicity of Euclidean time implicitly records the temperature. An important comment is that these zero temperature corrections start at four derivative order, since supersymmetry protects the moduli from developing a potential, and maximal supersymmetry also protects the two derivative kinetic terms from corrections.

At one-loop the effective theory also receives corrections due to finite temperature. Since finite temperature manifestly breaks supersymmetry, the form of these corrections is more complicated, and there are corrections at zero, two, four derivative order and beyond, as computed in [30]. For example, the potential is the simplest correction at one-loop, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>There is a subtlety that we have brushed over. The scalar part of the classical moduli action above appears to be a sigma model in the target space  $\prod_N \mathbb{R}^{9-p}$ . However, we have ignored the SYM gauge transformations that simply permute the diagonal components of the SYM matrix fields. Hence really we should identify the classical moduli theory under such permutations  $(\vec{\phi}_a, a_a^\mu) \to (\vec{\phi}_{P_a}, a_{P_a}^\mu)$ , for P a permutation  $(1, 2, \ldots, N) \to (P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_N)$ . Doing so for all permutations, then the sigma model target space for the scalars becomes the symmetric product  $S_N \mathbb{R}^{9-p}$ . This will be relevant for p = 1 [46–48] in the later section 4.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This one-loop result is derived in appendix B.

takes the form,

$$S_{\text{one-loop}}^{\text{thermal, pot'l}} = -\frac{16}{(2\pi)^{p/2}} \int d\tau d^p x \sum_{a < b} \frac{U_a U_b^{\star} + U_b U_a^{\star}}{\beta^{1+p}} e^{-\beta |\vec{\phi}_{ab}|} \left(\beta |\vec{\phi}_{ab}|\right)^{p/2}$$
(2.12)

where  $U_a$  is the Polyakov loop around the Euclidean time circle, so that  $U_a = e^{i \oint da_a} = e^{i \oint d\tau a_a^0.6}$  We see explicitly for this potential that it is proportional to  $\exp(-\beta |\vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b|)$  which is the Boltzmann factor of the off-diagonal components which have mass  $\propto |\vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b|$ . Likewise, the contributions at higher derivative order are similarly controlled by the same Boltzmann factor dependence [30].

As discussed above, at zero temperature this moduli action encodes the dynamics of N nearly parallel D*p*-branes in flat 10-dimensional space, interacting weakly via the gravitational sector [35]. In particular, if we consider zero temperature, and identify  $X_a^I = 2\pi \alpha' \phi_a^I$ as the transverse positions of the nearly coincident N D*p*-branes, then the leading two derivative term above gives the dynamics due to the brane tensions, and the four derivative term accounts for classical exchange of the 10-d supergravity graviton, dilaton and form field. This agreement is of course well known [18], resulting from non-renormalisation theorems, and is the basis for postulating the holographic correspondence between the gauge theory and a dual closed string theory.

At finite temperature we argued in [35] that as usual for an interacting thermal system it should obey a virial relation, where the dynamics due to the leading two derivative kinetic term is balanced by the interaction terms. This assumes a good thermal vacuum exists and does not apply to the case where it is simply dominated by the leading free two derivative terms. The virial relation immediately implies that the theory will be strongly coupled, since one cannot assume the higher order terms are small, and in our moduli theory we have an infinite set of higher loop terms which we believe all become equally relevant.

The crucial point is that whilst a naive extrapolation of usual perturbation theory to strong coupling yields unphysical results, a naive extrapolation of the moduli theory to strong coupling reveals many of the features of black Dp-brane dynamics.

#### 2.3 Recovering the dual black D*p*-brane phase

The dual black D*p*-brane phase in IIA or IIB supergravity is the canonical strongly coupled phase of SYM, and in particular this phase applies in the 't Hooft regime. The black *p*brane describes the thermal theory in the large N limit, for effective coupling  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \sim O(N^0)$ . However an analysis of  $\alpha'$  corrections [2] in supergravity shows that this gravitational description only applies for,

$$1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}},\tag{2.13}$$

and as mentioned above for the opposite regime  $\lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}} \ll 1$  the SYM becomes perturbative if p < 5.

As we will discuss later, this phase in fact extends beyond this 't Hooft thermal regime even though for all p the dual IIA or IIB black brane description eventually breaks down

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Note that for p = 0 this potential term was computed in [44].

for  $N^{\frac{2}{7-p}} \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}}$  due to strong string coupling. For some p there then is a phase transition to a new behaviour at sufficiently strong coupling. To begin our discussion, we now review how the moduli theory may be used to see the existence of the dual black D*p*-brane phase directly in the SYM for  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \sim O(N^0)$ .

In order to proceed we will assume that only a subset of the terms in the moduli action are required to describe the thermal state. We call these the 'leading' contributions [35]. By this we mean the lowest derivative terms at each loop order of the non-thermal corrections. We will assume that all higher derivative terms, controlled by  $(F_{MN}^{ab})^2/\phi_{ab}^4$  at a given loop order, are negligible comparable to the lowest derivative term. Further we assume that the thermal corrections are subdominant to these leading non-thermal ones. We then argue that these assumptions are self-consistent within our extrapolation to strong coupling.

Next we assume that the gross properties of the thermal state scale are controlled by one physical scale,  $\chi$ , which we can think of as characterising the thermal vev of the scalars. In the spirit of a mean field approach, we then estimate the vev of a local operator by using the following rules. Where one sees scalars in the vev, or differences between scalars, we estimate by the physical scale  $\chi$ ,

$$\vec{\phi}_a \sim \vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b \sim \chi \,. \tag{2.14}$$

Derivatives are estimated using the thermal scale,

$$\partial_{\mu} \sim \pi \, T \tag{2.15}$$

provided that only the Euclidean time direction is compact with anti-periodic fermion boundary conditions. Thus we estimate  $\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}_{a} \sim \pi T \chi$ .

We note that for  $p \neq 3$  there is another dimensional scale in the problem as well as T, namely the coupling  $\lambda_p$ . The reason that we estimate time derivatives with the scale T, rather than with for example a scale derived from the coupling is that the thermodynamics is believed to occur in a scaling regime, where the temperature T is far separated from the scale set by  $\lambda_p$ . Recall the regime of interest is  $1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}}$  with  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} = \lambda_p T^{p-3}$ . Hence assuming the theory is not trivial (so there is no mass gap) at such temperatures, then the only relevant energy scale should be the temperature itself.

We make the same estimate for the gauge field, so that  $\partial_{\mu}a_{\nu a} \sim F_{\mu\nu_a} \sim \pi T \chi$ . In particular this means that where we see  $F_a^{MN}$  or  $F_{ab}^{MN}$  in a vev we make a replacement,

$$F_a^{MN} \sim F_{ab}^{MN} \sim \pi T \,\chi \,. \tag{2.16}$$

We might be tempted to treat the gauge field without derivative in the same manner as the scalars, so that,

$$a_a^\mu \sim \vec{a}_a^\mu - \vec{a}_b^\mu \sim \chi \,. \tag{2.17}$$

We note however, that the constant mode of the gauge field about the thermal circle has a potential from a different source in equation (2.12) than the scalars, which obtain a potential directly from the non-thermal one-loop term (2.10). We will later argue that the potential (2.12) will be negligible in the regime we are interested in, and therefore the estimate above in (2.17) may not hold due to this lack of potential for the constant mode. Of course this does not affect the estimate for the derivatives of  $a_a^{\mu}$  in (2.16) which do not care about the constant mode.

A very important point to emphasise is that one may see above we are including factors of  $\pi$  in our estimation, and we will later also consider geometric factors from sphere volumes. This is for the simple reason that it apparently reproduces the correct answer. At present we have little understanding for why, but presumably it is due to non-renormalisation properties of the theory. We emphasise that in estimating the derivative above it is natural to include a factor of  $\pi$ , since a Matsubara mode takes the form,

$$\psi_n(\tau) = e^{2\pi n i T \tau} , \quad \partial_\tau \psi_n = 2\pi T n i \psi_n \tag{2.18}$$

and hence keeping factors of  $\pi$  it is  $(\pi T)$  that is associated to  $\tau$  derivatives.

As we will see later, we will have factors of powers of  $\pi$  in our expressions as well as (8 - p)-sphere volumes,  $\Omega_{8-p}$ , originating from the non-thermal one-loop term in (2.10). Now again recalling  $\Omega_{8-p} (\equiv 2\pi^{\frac{9-p}{2}}/\Gamma(\frac{9-p}{2}))$ , then we see for integer p that  $\Omega_{8-p}$  is simply a power of  $\pi$  multiplied by a rational number, and therefore for integer p there is no need to separately account for factors of  $\pi$  and factors of  $\Omega_{8-p}$ , they may simply be combined into powers of  $\pi$ . We emphasise that in this work we will implicitly consider p to be a continuous parameter that we may continue away from the integer values, and in this case the sphere volume involves a non-trivial factor due to the Gamma function, so that it is not simply powers of  $\pi$  up to a rational number. Considering p as a continuous parameter then it makes sense to treat factors of powers of  $\pi$  and  $\Omega_{8-p}$  separately as we shall do.

Lastly any sums over colour index are estimated in the obvious manner,  $\sum_{a} \sim N$ ,  $\sum_{a < b} \sim N^2$  etc..., where we focus on the large N limit only.

Let us illustrate this by considering the operators of the classical and leading one-loop densities in the moduli action (ignoring fermions);

$$L_{0} = \frac{N}{\lambda_{p}} \sum_{a=1}^{N} \frac{1}{4} (F_{a}^{MN})^{2},$$

$$L_{2} = \frac{(2\pi)^{4-p}}{32(7-p)\Omega_{8-p}} \sum_{a < b} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - (F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab})^{2}}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ab}\right|^{7-p}}.$$
(2.19)

Firstly consider the (renormalised) finite temperature vev of  $L_0$ . We may use our rules to estimate,

$$\langle L_0 \rangle = \langle \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \sum_{a=1}^N \frac{1}{4} (F_a^{MN})^2 \rangle$$

$$\sim \langle \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \sum_{a=1}^N (F_a^{MN})^2 \rangle$$

$$\sim \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \times N \times (\pi T \chi)^2 = \frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2 \chi^2}{\lambda_p}$$

$$(2.20)$$

where we emphasise that we have dropped any rational constants (going from the first to the second lines), but have kept the transcendental geometric factors involving the  $\pi$ 's. For  $L_2$  we estimate the (renormalised) vev,

$$\langle L_2 \rangle = \langle \frac{(2\pi)^{4-p}}{32(7-p)\Omega_{8-p}} \sum_{a < b} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - (F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab})^2}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ab}\right|^{7-p}} \rangle$$

$$\sim \frac{\pi^{4-p}}{\Omega_{8-p}} \times N^2 \times \frac{(\pi T\chi)^4}{\chi^{7-p}} = \frac{N^2\pi^{8-p}T^4}{\Omega_{8-p}\chi^{3-p}}.$$
(2.21)

Using these simple rules we argue that one can estimate the (renormalised) vevs of local operators. However, we have an undetermined scale  $\chi$ . This we fix by the assumption that the thermal state is strongly coupled and virialised. If we ignored all higher loop terms, and focus on the zero- and one-loop leading terms in the moduli action, we would obtain a (Euclidean) virial theorem,<sup>7</sup>

$$\langle \int d\tau d^p x \left( 2L_0 - (3-p)L_2 \right) \rangle = 0.$$
 (2.22)

Assuming spatial homogeneity this implies the finite temperature relation,

$$\langle L_0 \rangle \sim \langle L_2 \rangle$$
 (2.23)

where we have dropped dependence on rational constants. Using our estimation methods for these vevs from above then implies,

$$\frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2 \chi^2}{\lambda_p} \sim \frac{N^2 \pi^{8-p} T^4}{\Omega_{8-p} \chi^{3-p}} \implies \chi^{5-p} \sim \frac{\lambda_p \pi^{6-p} T^2}{\Omega_{8-p}}$$
(2.24)

and hence fixes our unknown physical scale.

Thus at strong coupling we estimate that each leading term in the classical and oneloop moduli action contributes with the same parametric form, with the scalar and gauge fields contributing in the same way. We have only considered the leading one-loop term, but as we have argued in [35] we expect that all the leading higher loop terms in the moduli action also have precisely the same parametric dependence.<sup>8</sup>

The virialised state exhibits a low energy scale invariance at strong coupling, governed by the leading terms at all loop orders. As noted in [35], the classical and one-loop leading terms scale covariantly under the rigid transformation,

$$(\tau, x^i) \to (\Lambda^{-\frac{5-p}{3-p}}\tau, \Lambda^{-\frac{5-p}{3-p}}x^i) , \quad \vec{\phi}_a \to \Lambda^{\frac{2}{3-p}}\vec{\phi}_a , \quad a_a^\mu \to \Lambda^{\frac{2}{3-p}}a_a^\mu$$
(2.25)

with,

$$L_0 \to \Lambda^{\frac{2(7-p)}{3-p}} L_0 , \quad L_2 \to \Lambda^{\frac{2(7-p)}{3-p}} L_2 .$$
 (2.26)

<sup>7</sup>This can be derived from the Lorentzian moduli theory in the usual manner and continued to Euclidean time, or obtained directly from the Euclidean path integral as a suitably renormalised Schwinger-Dyson equation associated to the scaling of the fields,  $\vec{\phi}_a \to (1+\epsilon)\vec{\phi}_a$ ,  $a_a^\mu \to (1+\epsilon)a_a^\mu$  for infinitesimal  $\epsilon$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Note that while the virial relation (2.22) becomes trivial for p = 3 really we are concerned with strong coupling where all leading terms at arbitrary loop order contribute with the same parametric form, not just the first two terms.

The non-thermal corrections to the leading terms which we ignore,

$$\frac{(\partial\phi)^2}{\phi^4} \to \Lambda^2 \frac{(\partial\phi)^2}{\phi^4} \tag{2.27}$$

scale to zero as we take  $\Lambda \to 0$ . Note that the temperature scales as  $T \to \Lambda^{\frac{5-p}{3-p}}T$ . Then the Boltzmann factor of the thermal corrections also scales to zero,

$$e^{-\beta\phi} \to e^{-\beta\phi\Lambda^{-1}} \tag{2.28}$$

in the  $\Lambda \to 0$  limit. Based on this scaling property we can say that the strongly coupled regime is dominated by the terms which scale covariantly in the same manner as the classical and one-loop terms, and we expect that at each loop order there are such terms present in the non-thermal theory.

Consider now the energy density of the theory. The (Euclidean) stress tensor of the Yang-Mills theory is,

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \mathbf{F}_{\mu\alpha} \mathbf{F}_{\nu}^{\ \alpha} + D_{\mu} \mathbf{\Phi}^I D_{\nu} \mathbf{\Phi}^I - \eta_{\mu\nu} \left( \frac{1}{4} \mathbf{F}^2 + \frac{1}{2} (D \mathbf{\Phi}^I)^2 - \frac{1}{4} \left[ \mathbf{\Phi}^I, \mathbf{\Phi}^J \right]^2 \right) \right] + \text{fermions.}$$
(2.29)

Just as with the Euclidean action where we could integrate out the off-diagonal modes to produce an effective action governing the moduli, we can consider the vev of the stress tensor in terms of these moduli degrees of freedom. At leading classical order since the moduli are diagonal all commutators vanish, and the classical contribution to the stress tensor is,

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle = \langle \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \sum_{a} \left[ (F_a)_{\mu M} (F_a)_{\nu}{}^M - \frac{1}{4} \eta_{\mu\nu} (F_a^{MN})^2 \right] + \ldots \rangle$$
(2.30)

where the ellipsis represents corrections from integration over the off-diagonal modes. We could equally obtain this expression by considering the stress tensor of the effective moduli action. In particular the terms given above are from the classical term,  $\partial L_0/\partial g_{\mu\nu}$ , and the ellipsis above would be due to the higher loop terms, such as  $\partial L_2/\partial g_{\mu\nu}$ . The important point is that using our naive strong coupling extrapolation we can estimate this vev, to obtain,

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle \sim \langle \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \sum_{a} \left[ (F_a)_{MN} (F_a)_{PQ} \right] + \dots \rangle$$
  
 $\sim \frac{N}{\lambda_p} \times N \times (\pi T \chi)^2 = \frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2 \chi^2}{\lambda_p}$  (2.31)

which of course is the same estimate as for  $\langle L_0 \rangle$  and  $\langle L_2 \rangle$ , essentially the statement that the vev of the Euclidean Lagrangian density is related to the free energy density, which in this phase behaves in the same way as the energy density, and hence has the same estimate.

Then, using the fact that we have determined the scale  $\chi$  using our strongly coupled virial assumption,

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle \sim \frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2}{\lambda_p} \left( \frac{\lambda_p \pi^{6-p} T^2}{\Omega_{8-p}} \right)^{\frac{2}{5-p}} = N^2 \Omega_{8-p}^{-\frac{2}{5-p}} \pi^{\frac{22-4p}{5-p}} \left( T \lambda_p^{-\frac{1}{3-p}} \right)^{\frac{2(7-p)}{5-p}} \lambda_p^{\frac{1+p}{3-p}}$$
(2.32)

which gives an estimate for both the energy and pressure of the strongly coupled thermal phase (we note this still correctly applies in the conformal case p = 3).<sup>9</sup>

Now we compare this stress tensor vev to that predicted by the thermodynamics of a black Dp-brane in the gravity dual. The string frame metric and dilaton for the black Dp-brane is [2],

$$\alpha'^{-1}ds^{2} = \left(\frac{U^{7-p}}{d_{p}\lambda_{p}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(-fdt^{2} + dx^{i}dx^{i}\right) + \left(\frac{U^{7-p}}{d_{p}\lambda_{p}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{f}dU^{2} + U^{2}d\Omega_{8-p}^{2}\right)$$
$$e^{\phi} = (2\pi)^{2-p}\frac{\lambda_{p}}{N} \left(\frac{d_{p}\lambda_{p}}{U^{7-p}}\right)^{\frac{3-p}{4}}$$
$$f = 1 - \left(\frac{U_{0}}{U}\right)^{7-p}, \qquad d_{p} = 2^{7-2p}\pi^{\frac{9-3p}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{7-p}{2}\right)$$
(2.33)

where the radial coordinate U has units of energy, and the horizon is located at  $U = U_0$ , and in addition the *p*-form field also has a non-trivial radial profile. Then using standard black hole thermodynamics one finds that the energy density  $\epsilon$  in terms of entropy density s is,

$$s = \frac{\left(2^{43-7p}\pi^{13-3p}(9-p)^{-(9-p)}\Gamma\left(\frac{9-p}{2}\right)^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2(7-p)}}}{\sqrt{7-p}} N^2 \left(\frac{\epsilon}{N^2\lambda_p^{\frac{1+p}{3-p}}}\right)^{\frac{9-p}{2(7-p)}} \lambda_p^{\frac{p}{3-p}} \tag{2.34}$$

which using the first law, and the relation,

$$\Omega_{8-p} = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{9-p}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{9-p}{2}\right)} \tag{2.35}$$

gives,

$$\epsilon = (9-p) \left( \frac{2^{31-5p} \pi^{22-4p}}{(7-p)^{3(7-p)} \Omega_{8-p}^2} \right)^{\frac{1}{5-p}} N^2 (T\lambda_p^{-\frac{1}{3-p}})^{\frac{2(7-p)}{5-p}} \lambda_p^{\frac{1+p}{3-p}} = b_p N^2 \Omega_{8-p}^{-\frac{2}{5-p}} \pi^{\frac{22-4p}{5-p}} \left( T\lambda_p^{-\frac{1}{3-p}} \right)^{\frac{2(7-p)}{5-p}} \lambda_p^{\frac{1+p}{3-p}}, \quad b_p = (9-p) \left( \frac{2^{31-5p}}{(7-p)^{3(7-p)}} \right)^{\frac{1}{5-p}} (2.36)$$

and we note that up to the factor  $b_p$ , which does not contain the geometric factors  $\pi$  and  $\Omega_{8-p}$ , our estimate above from the stress tensor precisely reproduces this. We emphasise that this expression also applies in the case p = 3.<sup>10</sup>

We note that these Yang-Mills theories have been argued to enjoy a generalised conformal symmetry [49]. Such a symmetry, if indeed it survives in the quantum theory, is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Note that we have not considered or used any additional information from Lorentz structure, or assumptions of generalised conformal symmetry [49, 50] that would further constrain the vev of the stress tensor. Obviously here, the Lorentz symmetry, which is broken by finite temperature, would constrain the stress tensor to be static and have an isotropic pressure. The generalised conformal symmetry would constrain the trace of the stress tensor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The results agree with SYM even at p = 6. However in this case, the specific heat is negative, indicating the instability of the thermal state in SYM.

powerful in constraining non-local operators, such as correlation functions and transport coefficients [50]. However, as we see explicitly in [50], it does not constrain the form of the entropy (2.34) above beyond constraints already deduced from dimensional analysis. Hence it is important to note that our analysis is providing non-trivial information about the strong coupling behaviour that cannot simply be deduced from (generalised) symmetry of the full gauge theory.

## 2.4 $\alpha'$ corrections to the D*p*-brane phase

The transition from weak to strong coupling is at  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \sim O(1)$ , and in the dual black D*p*brane solution is understood to be due to  $\alpha'$  corrections. Considering the black brane (2.33) one finds,

$$U_0^{5-p} = \frac{2^{13-2p}\pi^{11-2p}\lambda_p T^2}{(7-p)^3\Omega_{8-p}}$$
(2.37)

and then we see that the radius,  $R_{(8-p)}$ , of the (8-p)-sphere at the horizon measured in string frame is,

$$R_{(8-p)} = \sqrt{\alpha'} \left(\frac{d_p \lambda_p}{U_0^{3-p}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$
(2.38)

and hence for the  $\alpha'$  corrections to be negligible we require  $R_{(8-p)}$  to be large in string length units (which is sufficient for the string metric everywhere to be weakly curved in units of  $\alpha'$ ), and hence,

$$1 \ll \frac{\lambda_p}{U_0^{3-p}} \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad 1 \ll \lambda_p \left(\lambda_p T^2\right)^{-\frac{3-p}{5-p}} = \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{2}{5-p}}.$$
 (2.39)

Thus the condition for  $\alpha'$  corrections to be negligible is,

$$1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}} \tag{2.40}$$

and in the opposite regime where these corrections are strong one expects SYM perturbation theory to be valid if p < 5 [2]. A challenge to our moduli description is that it should self consistently determine that the approximations made do not apply to this weakly coupled region of SYM, which as discussed in 2.1 has a very different thermodynamic behaviour.

As emphasised in [30] for p < 3, and then extended to the cases  $p \ge 3$  in [33] the moduli theory indeed achieves this. Remember that our estimates above come from considering the leading terms in the moduli action. We have discarded corrections to the non-thermal action, controlled by  $(\partial \phi_{ab})^2 / |\phi_{ab}|^4$ , and also the thermal corrections which are controlled by the Boltzmann factor  $e^{-|\phi_{ab}|/T}$ . We may use our estimates to consider when this is self consistent, finding,

$$\left\langle \frac{(\partial \phi_{ab})^2}{|\phi_{ab}|^4} \right\rangle_T \sim \left(\frac{\pi T}{\chi}\right)^2 , \quad \langle e^{-|\phi_{ab}|/T} \rangle_T \sim e^{-\frac{\chi}{T}}.$$
(2.41)

Hence both corrections are negligible when  $1 \ll \chi/T$ , and using our estimate for  $\chi$ , the corrections are negligible for,

$$1 \ll \frac{\chi}{T} = \frac{1}{T} \left( \frac{\lambda_p \pi^{6-p} T^2}{\Omega_{8-p}} \right)^{\frac{1}{5-p}} = \left( \frac{\pi^{6-p}}{\Omega_{8-p}} \frac{\lambda_p}{T^{3-p}} \right)^{\frac{1}{5-p}}$$
(2.42)

and hence we recover precisely the condition that  $1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{1/(5-p)}$  in agreement with gravity for all p. Note we see that the dependence on p in the power is quite non-trivially reproduced and is relevant when considering the subtle cases p > 3 where the SYM itself is rather exotic.

Thus we assumed that only the leading terms were relevant in the strongly coupled regime, and then we see our estimates are only consistent with this if  $1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{1/(5-p)}$ , although  $O(N^0)$ , which is precisely when the D*p*-brane phase is a good dual. For weaker coupling,  $\alpha'$  corrections spoil this, and the gauge theory behaviour transitions over to the usual perturbative regime.<sup>11</sup> We note that numerical studies for D0 [9, 10] and D1-branes [15] appear to be consistent with a smooth cross-over, and such a smooth transition has been argued in the context of the correspondence principle [51].

Whilst the moduli theory predicts when  $\alpha'$  corrections become important, an interesting question is whether it can quantitively describe these sub-leading corrections. Naively we would assume from (2.10) that the fractional size of the corrections to the leading behaviour would go as  $\sim (\partial \phi)^2 / \phi^4 \sim (T/\chi)^2$ . However in the cases p = 0 and p = 3 dual gravity arguments indicate that in fact the fractional size of the correction goes as the cubic power  $\sim (T/\chi)^3$  [52, 53]. Recall that our moduli theory is computed when it is weakly coupled, and then our estimates naively extrapolate its thermal behaviour to strong coupling. As we have said above, the fact that this apparently works for the leading behaviour must be due to non-renormalisation properties of the leading moduli theory. It seems unlikely to us that sub-leading terms also enjoy such protection, and hence it is not surprising that we are unable to accurately estimate the size of the sub-leading corrections. That said, clearly this would be interesting to explore further.

#### 2.5 Predictions for other observables

Beyond simply estimating the energy density in the thermal theory at strong coupling by naive extrapolation of our moduli theory applied to the stress tensor vev, we might also make predictions for the behaviour of various other observables in the Yang-Mills theory. Of course it is possible, for reasons currently unknown to us, that our moduli estimates work only in estimating the stress tensor vev. However, it seems reasonable to assume that if our estimation method works, it does so for a wider class of operators. One possibility is that it applies to operators that are dual to supergravity modes - in the p = 3 conformal case these are operators whose dimension are protected at strong coupling. However, another possibility is that the estimates apply to a wider range of observables than these, and we shall give some evidence that this is the case, finding they also correctly account for the vev of the Polyakov-Maldacena loop.

Consider estimating the vev of an operator,

$$O_{(\Phi)^2} = \langle \frac{1}{N} \mathrm{Tr} \mathbf{\Phi} \mathbf{\Phi} \rangle \tag{2.43}$$

where we will not be specific about the spacetime index contractions - for example we may contract them with some constant tensor which we assume contains no transcenden-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>For p = 5, see section 2.7. At p = 6, both gravity and gauge theory descriptions are good if  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \ll 1$ . It may imply that these two states lie separately in the  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} \ll 1$  regime [43].

tal factors. Again we take the weakly coupled moduli approximation to it, and naively extrapolating to strong coupling obtain,

$$O_{(\Phi)^2} \sim \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \sum_{a} \vec{\phi}_a \vec{\phi}_a + \ldots \right\rangle \sim \frac{1}{N} \times N\chi^2$$
$$\sim \left( \frac{\lambda_p \pi^{6-p} T^2}{\Omega_{8-p}} \right)^{\frac{2}{5-p}} \tag{2.44}$$

where the ellipsis represents higher loop corrections, which will all have the same parametric form after estimation, and hence we just use the first term as an estimate.

We note that large-N factorisation of multi traces is obviously respected by these estimates. For example if we consider,

$$O_{(\Phi)^2(\Phi)^2} = \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \left( \operatorname{Tr} \Phi^2 \right) \frac{1}{N} \left( \operatorname{Tr} \Phi^2 \right) \right\rangle$$
(2.45)

then the leading classical moduli contribution yields,

$$O_{(\Phi)^2(\Phi)^2} = \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \left( \sum_a \phi_a^2 \right) \frac{1}{N} \left( \sum_b \phi_b^2 \right) + \ldots \right\rangle$$
(2.46)

and we will simply obtain an estimate where  $O_{(\Phi)^2(\Phi)^2} \sim (O_{(\Phi)^2})^2$  as we should expect at leading order at large N.

Consider the issue of whether our estimates correspond to general operators or only those dual to supergravity fields. In the conformal case p = 3, as we see from above, our estimate predicts  $O_{(\Phi)^2} \sim \lambda T^2$ . Consider for the operator the particular index contraction  $\langle \frac{1}{N} \text{Tr} [\Phi^I \Phi^I] \rangle$  so this is not a chiral primary operator. Recall a chiral primary requires the SO(6) indices to be contracted by a totally symmetric traceless SO(6) tensor. Hence this operator is not dual to a supergravity field, but rather to a bulk stringy excitation. Correspondingly it has a large scaling dimension in the supergravity limit  $\lambda \to \infty$ , with  $\Delta \sim \lambda^{1/4}$ . Given the only dimensional scale is T, then naively we might expect the thermal vev of our operator to have temperature dependence going as  $O_{(\Phi)^2} \sim T^{\Delta}$ , in disagreement with our estimate  $O_{(\Phi)^2} \sim T^2$  above.<sup>12</sup> This example in p = 3 appears to be evidence against our estimates applying to general operators which are dual to stringy bulk degrees of freedom.

Thus we expect that if one computes the 1-loop correction to the vev (2.43) we would expect that for operators dual to supergravity fields this should yield the same parametric estimate as the classical behaviour above in (2.44). On the other hand, considering an index contraction that corresponds to a stringy mode, rather than a supergravity mode, we would expect the 1-loop contribution no longer to have detailed cancelations between the off-diagonal fermion and boson contributions, and presumably this 1-loop contribution no longer has the same parametric form under our estimates as the classical term. It would be interesting to confirm this by direct calculation.

We note that while our estimates may in principle apply to operators dual to supergravity fields, we should expect the vevs of many such operators may be forced to vanish

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ We are very grateful to the referee of this paper for emphasising this point.

due to symmetry. Thus we may get the parametric dependence correct, but it comes with a coefficient that is zero. For example, for p = 3 we would expect the vev of  $\langle \frac{1}{N} \text{Tr} [ \Phi^I \Phi^J ] A_{IJ} \rangle$  for the symmetric traceless SO(6) tensor  $A_{IJ}$  to vanish, as from a dual point of view the operator can only have a vev if the thermal state breaks the bulk symmetry of the  $S^5$ , and we know the planar AdS-Schwarzschild supergravity black holes does not. Of course if one were able to accommodate rotation on the  $S^5$  in our estimation scheme then such operators would become non-trivial.

Finally, let us consider a different non-local observable, the Maldacena loop about the Euclidean time circle. This is interesting as it can be computed in the supergravity, but involves physics beyond the supergravity fields themselves. This Polyakov-Maldacena loop is,

$$W = \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \left| \operatorname{Tr} e^{\oint d\tau \left( i \mathbf{A}^{\tau} + n^{I} \mathbf{\Phi}^{I} \right)} \right| \right\rangle$$
(2.47)

where generally  $n^{I}(\tau) \in \mathbb{R}^{9-p}$  is a unit vector valued over the time circle but we shall consider it is constant. Now at weak coupling the moduli theory gives,

$$W = \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \left| \sum_{a} e^{\oint d\tau \left( i a_{a}^{\tau} + n^{I} \phi_{a}^{I} \right) + \dots} \right| \right\rangle.$$
(2.48)

The argument in the exponential comprises both an imaginary part from the gauge field, and a real part from the scalars. We have discussed above that an estimate for the gauge field constant mode is subtle. However for the real scalar part we estimate  $\oint d\tau \left(n^I \phi_a^I\right) \sim \frac{1}{T}\chi$ . Without treating the gauge field constant mode, we can only use this real part to bound the estimate for W as,

$$W \lesssim \frac{1}{N} \times N \times e^{\frac{\chi}{T}}$$
(2.49)

since the phase part may potentially contrive to cancel the contributions to W. However, let us assume it does not. Then we conclude,

$$\log W \sim \frac{\chi}{T} = \frac{1}{T} \left( \frac{\lambda_p \pi^{6-p} T^2}{\Omega_{8-p}} \right)^{\frac{1}{5-p}}.$$
 (2.50)

In fact this result may simply be checked from the dual black brane. The p = 0 computation in [54] can be generalised straightforwardly to arbitrary p, where for the metric (2.33) one finds  $\log W \sim U_0/(\pi T)$ . From the relation (2.37) and the estimate (2.24) we see that  $U_0 \sim \pi \chi$ . Using this we see the gravity calculation of  $\log W$  precisely agrees with our estimate above  $\log W \sim \chi/T$ , including the  $\pi$  and sphere volume factors. Thus the Polyakov-Maldacena loop is a nice example of an observable that does seem to be estimated using our methods, but is beyond the case of local operators dual to bulk supergravity fields.

Note we assumed no phase cancellations in the estimation above, and it would be good to provide justification of this, perhaps by considering loop corrections to the observable.

#### 2.6 Horizon size

We now briefly discuss how the black hole horizon radius in the dual supergravity is related to our estimates. In order to discuss the horizon radius of the black brane dual we need a measure of it. The most natural measure is the radius of the horizon as measured by the branes themselves. As discussed in [35], a probe brane that is nearly parallel to the N branes giving rise to the metric (2.33) sees the transverse space,

$$ds_{\text{brane}}^2 = \frac{1}{f} dz^2 + z^2 d\Omega_{8-p}^2 , \quad f = 1 - \left(\frac{z_h}{z}\right)^{7-p}$$
(2.51)

where  $z = \alpha' U$  and  $z_h = \alpha' U_0$ . Note that this is the superspace metric for the moduli that describe the probe brane embedding into the background (2.33), and is neither a projection of the Einstein frame, nor the string frame metric, but is related by additional powers of  $e^{\phi}$ . In this natural transverse brane metric the proper radius of the horizon is  $z_h$ .

As emphasised in [35], the relation between the transverse probe brane positions  $X_a^I = 2\pi \alpha' \phi_a^I$  and the moduli  $\phi_a^I$  at weak coupling is suggestive that at strong coupling the size of the black brane horizon,  $z_h$ , which it is natural to associate with the thermal scale of the brane positions  $X^I$ , is given by,

$$z_h \sim \pi \alpha' \chi \tag{2.52}$$

where  $\sim$  indicates equality including dependence on N, dimensional parameters and  $\pi$ 's and sphere volumes, but not including possible non-transcendental constants. Using our estimate for  $\chi$  then this gives,

$$z_h \sim \pi \alpha' \left(\frac{\lambda_p \pi^{6-p} T^2}{\Omega_{8-p}}\right)^{\frac{1}{5-p}}.$$
(2.53)

Up to a remaining numerical factor (not involving  $\pi$  or sphere volumes) this indeed gives the correct relation for  $z_h$  in the black brane solution, which we see directly in gravity using  $z_h = \alpha' U_0$  and the black brane relation (2.37).

We note that a simple Yang-Mills observable yielding the black hole radius is the Maldacena loop discussed above, as proposed in the case p = 0 [54]. Since we know from explicit gravity calculation, and from our estimates, that  $\log W \sim \chi/T$ , then we see,

$$\frac{z_h}{\alpha'} \sim \pi T \log W \tag{2.54}$$

up to a non-transcendental constant of proportionality, which can be computed explicitly from gravity if required.

## 2.7 The Hagedorn case p = 5

The case p = 5 exhibits Hagedorn behaviour, where the temperature is constant, yet the energy density may vary. We have to apply our estimates more carefully in this special case, but we find they still correctly work.

Firstly our estimate in (2.24) for p = 5 yields the Hagedorn temperature itself,

$$T^2 \sim \frac{\pi}{\lambda_5} \,. \tag{2.55}$$

Thus the temperature is constant and the scale  $\chi$  giving the vev of the scalars is now the variable in the thermodynamics. Then from (2.31), we obtain,

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu} \rangle \sim \frac{1}{\lambda_5} N^2 \pi^2 T^2 \chi^2 = \frac{1}{\lambda_5^2} N^2 \pi^3 \chi^2$$
 (2.56)

which is a function of  $\chi$ . Hence we relate the energy density and pressure to the vev of the scalars, determined by  $\chi$ . Note that from the above,  $z_h \sim \pi \alpha' \chi$ , and using this for the stress tensor vev above correctly reproduces the black hole energy density and pressure as a function of horizon size  $z_h$ .

## 3 SYM on a spatial circle

We now consider the super Yang-Mills where we compactify a spatial direction. In this case dual gravity arguments indicate interesting new phase structure in the strongly coupled 't Hooft regime, where  $1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{1/(5-p)}$  but still  $\sim O(N^0)$ .

#### 3.1 D*p*-branes winding a circle

In the N D*p*-brane system, suppose that one of the spatial directions (say  $x_p$ ) in the worldvolume is compactified to have radius L. If we took it to have anti-periodic boundary conditions for fermions, then in the Euclidean picture it would manifest analogously to the periodic Euclidean time direction, and hence would yield terms that are exponentially suppressed in  $L|\phi_{ab}| \gg 1$ , of precisely the form of the thermal corrections above but with  $\beta \rightarrow 2\pi L$ . However, we will focus on the more interesting case, where the fermion boundary conditions are periodic. In this case, as we discuss in detail in appendix B, in fact at one loop exponentially suppressed corrections in  $L|\phi_{ab}| \gg 1$  are generated, but the difference with the anti-periodic case is that instead of correcting all derivative orders, they correct only four derivatives and higher. Indeed the form of the four derivative correction which we compute in the appendix at one loop is,<sup>13</sup>

$$S_{\text{compact}}^{E,4} = -\int d\tau d^{p-1} x \frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_{p} \sum_{a < b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{(2\pi)^{5-p}}{32(8-p)\Omega_{9-p}} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - \left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2}}{\left(\left(\frac{n}{L} - a_{ab}^{p}\right)^{2} + \left|\vec{\phi}_{ab}\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{8-p}{2}}}.$$
(3.1)

There are then two interesting limits to this one-loop term. Firstly when  $L|\phi_{ab}| \gg 1$  this harmonic potential can be expanded to give our usual one in (9 - p) transverse dimensions (2.10), plus exponentially suppressed corrections in  $L|\phi_{ab}|$ ;

$$S_{\text{compact}}^{E,4} = -\int d\tau d^{p-1}x \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_{p} \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^{4-p}}{32(7-p)\Omega_{8-p}} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - \left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2}}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ab}\right|^{7-p}} \times \left(1 + e^{-2\pi L|\phi_{ab}|} \left(2\pi L|\phi_{ab}|\right)^{\frac{6-p}{2}} \cos\left(2\pi La_{ab}^{p}\right) + \ldots\right).$$
(3.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This one-loop term is governed by a harmonic potential in a transverse space which includes an extra compact direction, with coordinate  $a^p$ , with radius inversely related to L. This is of course the harmonic interaction mediating gravity exchange between D(p-1)-branes derived from the D*p*-brane dynamics after a T-duality on the compact circle so that its radius  $L \to \alpha'/L$ .

Now consider the thermodynamics of this system by using our usual estimates. A key assumption is that for periodic boundary conditions on the spatial circle we should still estimate  $\partial \sim \pi T$ . Obviously if  $\beta = 1/T \ll L$  then temperature is the dominant energy scale. However, for  $\beta \gg L$  one might imagine that the energy scale 1/L should be used to estimate the derivatives. Our use of T is precisely related to the fact that we are assuming a non-trivial scaling dynamics at low temperatures, and indeed for temperatures well below the scale  $\sim 1/L$ , and therefore it should be this lowest scale that determines the behaviour of quantities such as derivatives.<sup>14</sup>

We obtain our usual black D*p*-brane behaviour if we treat the correction term as negligible. However, we must check to ensure this assumption is self consistent, which requires that  $L |\phi_{ab}| \gg 1$  in the expression above in order to suppress the correction term. Our estimates yield,

$$L |\phi_{ab}| \sim L\chi \sim L(\lambda_p T^2)^{\frac{1}{5-p}}$$
(3.3)

where since we just wish to determine the regime where the corrections are negligible we ignore geometric factors. Hence this implies that a deviation from the Dp-brane behaviour (as detailed in section 2.3) will occur when,

$$L \sim (\lambda_p T^2)^{-\frac{1}{5-p}}.$$
 (3.4)

This indeed agrees with the dual closed string predictions [38–40, 42, 56]. Defining the critical length for a given temperature as  $L_c = (\lambda_p T^2)^{-\frac{1}{5-p}}$ , then precisely when  $L \sim L_c$  string winding modes about the compact spatial direction become unstable. These can be understood by performing a T-duality on the circle, so that one is considering a black D(p-1)-brane *smeared* over the circle. Since the thermodynamics of such a black brane is invariant under T-duality, this smeared D(p-1)-brane has the same behaviour as the original black Dp-brane that wraps the circle. However, such a smeared solution becomes classically unstable in gravity to localising its horizon on the compact circle (the Gregory-Laflamme instability [58, 59]), and this yields a phase transition to a new behaviour dual to a black D(p-1)-brane which is *localised* on the circle.<sup>15</sup> For  $L \ll L_c$  the horizon of this black D(p-1)-brane is much smaller than the size of the T-dual circle (length  $\alpha'/L$ ) and so the energy density of the gravity solution (and hence the SYM, recalling thermodynamics is T-duality invariant) behaves as that of a black D(p-1)-brane in a non-compact transverse space. More precisely, the energy density of the SYM *integrated over the compact circle* should give the energy density of a non-compact black D(p-1)-brane in a solution. So for  $L \ll L_c$  we expect  $\oint_0^{2\pi L} dx_p \epsilon$  to be given by equation (2.36) with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>If we had taken anti-periodic boundary conditions on a spatial circle, then we would not obtain such a non-trivial dynamics at low temperature, and this would be reflected by estimating  $\partial \sim \pi \max\left(\frac{1}{\beta}, \frac{1}{2\pi L}\right)$ , and a transition in behaviour will occur at  $2\pi L = \beta$  where the lowest scale is flipped. A corresponding phase transition does indeed occur in the dual supergravity [55–57].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Evidence for this large N phase transition has been found in direct numerical studies for p = 1 [15]. Phase transitions in related Yang-Mills theories have been studied in [40, 41, 60, 61].

the replacements  $p \to p-1$  where the resulting parameter  $\lambda_{p-1}$  after this replacement is related by dimensional reduction to the original Yang-Mills coupling so  $\lambda_p = 2\pi L \lambda_{p-1}$ .<sup>16</sup>

One important comment is that this transition from Dp-brane to D(p-1)-brane behaviour is highly non-trivial in the dual description of the SYM. Firstly it requires a T-dual frame to examine the gravity, and secondly it involves the Gregory-Laflamme transition. We emphasise that it does not simply arise from a 'dimensional reduction' of a black Dp-brane, which since it is wrapping the circle, cannot be reduced to give an appropriate D(p-1)-brane solution.

We have seen above that the correction to our moduli theory in (3.1) in the limit  $L \gg L_c$  precisely predicts the transition in behaviour. In fact as we shall now argue, we may also estimate the D(p-1)-brane behaviour for  $L \ll L_c$  from our moduli action in the compact case (3.1). Above the transition for  $L \gg L_c$ , we have argued  $L |\phi_{ab}| \gg 1$  and hence the corrections in (3.1) due to the presence of the circle are negligible. Well below the transition for  $L \ll L_c$  in the new phase with D(p-1) behaviour, we expect,

$$L\left|\phi_{ab}^{I}\right|, \ L\left|a_{ab}^{p}\right| \ll 1 \tag{3.6}$$

where we assume  $\phi_{ab}^{I}$  and  $a_{ab}^{p}$  have the same estimate. Note that previously in section 2.3 we have estimated the gradients  $\partial \phi_{a}^{I}$  in the same way as the gradients of the gauge fields,  $F_{\mu\nu_{a}}$ , but were careful to point out that an estimate for the gauge field itself was subtle as there are no explicit potential terms for the gauge field in the leading action. However, we see in the leading action with a compact circle now  $a_{a}^{p}$  does have an explicit potential at 1-loop, and hence we are indeed justified in making the estimate  $\phi_{ab}^{I} \sim a_{ab}^{p} \sim \chi$  for at least this *p*-component of the gauge field.

In the case  $L \ll L_c$  we see that only the n = 0 term in the sum in (3.1) is important, and hence the classical and one-loop terms of the moduli action can be simplified to,

$$S_{\text{compact}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_{p} \frac{2\pi LN}{\lambda_{p}} \int d\tau d^{p-1} x \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left(\frac{1}{4} (F_{a}^{MN})^{2}\right)$$
$$S_{\text{compact}}^{E,4} = -\frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_{p} \int d\tau d^{p-1} x \sum_{a (3.7)$$

We may trivially rewrite these expressions as,

$$S_{\text{compact}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_{p} \frac{N}{\lambda_{p-1}} \int d\tau d^{p-1} x \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left(\frac{1}{4} (F_{a}^{MN})^{2}\right)$$
(3.8)

$$S_{\text{compact}}^{E,4} = -\frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_p \int d\tau d^{p-1} x \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^{4-(p-1)}}{32(7-(p-1))\Omega_{8-(p-1)}} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - \left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^2}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ab}'\right|^{7-(p-1)}}$$

<sup>16</sup>We can see how this picture works more explicitly by recalling that in section 2.6 we used our discussions in [35] to argue the horizon size should be estimated by the scalar vev, with specific factors of  $\alpha'$  and  $\pi$  as in equation (2.52). Then at the transition point  $L\chi \sim 1$  we find that (dropping geometric factors),

$$z_h \sim \alpha' \chi \sim \frac{\alpha'}{L} = L_{(T)} \tag{3.5}$$

and hence the horizon size is of order the radius of the T-dual circle,  $L_{(T)} = \alpha'/L$ , it is smeared over. This is precisely when a Gregory-Laflamme transition occurs.

where  $\lambda_p = 2\pi L \lambda_{p-1}$ , and  $\vec{\phi'}_a = (\vec{\phi}_a, a_a^p)$ . We immediately see that apart from the integral over  $x^p$  in both terms, structurally the moduli action is that for SYM in one lower dimension,  $p \to (p-1)$ , where the gauge field component  $a_a^p$  in that direction is now playing the role of the extra scalar,  $\phi_a^{9-(p-1)}$ . Hence our estimation now yields the correct answer. Explicitly, writing  $\tilde{p} = p - 1$ , our virial relation,

$$\left\langle \frac{N}{\lambda_{\tilde{p}}} \sum_{a=1}^{N} \left( \frac{1}{4} (F_{a}^{MN})^{2} \right) \right\rangle \sim \left\langle \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^{4-\tilde{p}}}{32(7-\tilde{p})\Omega_{8-\tilde{p}}} \frac{4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NL}^{ab}F_{LK}^{ab}F_{KM}^{ab} - \left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2}}{\left| \vec{\phi}_{ab}' \right|^{7-\tilde{p}}} \right\rangle \quad (3.9)$$

is estimated as,

$$\frac{N^2}{\lambda_{\tilde{p}}} (\pi T \chi)^2 \sim N^2 \frac{\pi^{4-\tilde{p}}}{\Omega_{8-\tilde{p}}} \frac{(\pi T \chi)^4}{\chi^{7-\tilde{p}}} \implies \chi^{5-\tilde{p}} \sim \lambda_{\tilde{p}} \frac{\pi^{6-\tilde{p}} T^2}{\Omega_{8-\tilde{p}}}$$
(3.10)

and from earlier (2.31) the SYM stress tensor gives the vev of the energy density,  $\epsilon$ , to be,

$$\epsilon \sim \frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2 \chi^2}{\lambda_p} \sim \frac{1}{\pi L} \frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2}{\lambda_{\tilde{p}}} \left( \lambda_{\tilde{p}} \frac{\pi^{6-\tilde{p}} T^2}{\Omega_{8-\tilde{p}}} \right)^{\frac{2}{5-\tilde{p}}}.$$
(3.11)

Then the energy density integrated over the circle (assuming it to be homogeneous) will be,

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx_{p} \epsilon \sim 2\pi L \epsilon \sim \frac{N^{2} \pi^{2} T^{2}}{\lambda_{\tilde{p}}} \left(\lambda_{\tilde{p}} \frac{\pi^{6-\tilde{p}} T^{2}}{\Omega_{8-\tilde{p}}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5-\tilde{p}}}$$
(3.12)

which recalling the earlier relation for the D*p*-brane energy density, (2.32), shows that  $\int_0^{2\pi L} dx_p \epsilon$  does indeed reproduce the energy density of a D $\tilde{p}$ -brane, where of course  $\tilde{p} = p-1$ .

So we have seen that considering a spatial direction to be compact, for large  $L \gg L_c$ introduces negligible corrections to the leading terms in the moduli action. The terms grow in our estimates, and when  $L \sim L_c$  the terms are  $\sim O(1)$  corrections, and thus the behaviour must change. This is precisely where in the T-dual gravity picture a Gregory-Laflamme transition occurs. Furthermore, we see that for small  $L \ll L_c$ , this T-dual picture predicts a D(p-1)-brane behaviour, and indeed our moduli theory exactly agrees with this.

Apart from the details of the thermal behaviour near  $L \sim L_c$  our moduli estimates, using the full action computed for the compact circle (3.1), are therefore able to reproduce both the thermodynamics of the small and large L phases. We emphasise that just as in section 2.5 we demonstrated how to estimate various local operator vevs, this can be extended simply to the case with compact circle. Obviously for  $L \gg L_c$ , we will just obtain the same estimates for these operators. However, for  $L \ll L_c$ , it should be clear that we will obtain different estimates, but they will simply be the same ones but with  $p \to \tilde{p} = p - 1$ .

Finally we note that in [62] it was argued that (p+1)-SYM compactified on one spatial circle (with periodic fermion boundary conditions) is equivalent to a *p*-dimensional SYM theory with non-compact spatial directions, but with a different gauge group, related to that of the (p+1)-d theory after an orbifolding. This gives the action of T-duality on the circle from the D*p*-brane world volume SYM perspective, giving the dual world volume theory of the D(p-1)-branes. We note that in this theory the moduli action can be computed and, by construction, gives precisely the same answer as (3.1). From the point of view of the p-dimensional SYM with orbifold gauge group, there is the same phase transition, which is now interpreted simply as a Gregory-Laflamme transition in the compact direction of the transverse space of the D(p-1)-branes.

## 4 Very strong coupling: beyond the 't Hooft regime

Up to this point we have applied our estimates in the 't Hooft regime where  $\lambda_{\text{eff}} = \lambda_p/T^{3-p} \sim O(N^0)$  in the large N limit. We have seen that the moduli theory, computed in its weakly coupled limit, correctly estimates the dual black brane behaviour when naively extrapolated to strong coupling.

Furthermore, it correctly encodes when  $\alpha'$  corrections become important and hence the behaviour crosses over to thermal SYM at weak coupling, via corrections to the leading terms in the moduli action. Introducing a compact spatial circle radius L we may again compute the moduli action when it is weakly coupled, and again the corrections to the leading moduli action (2.19) correctly predict the transition at radius  $L_c$  for fixed temperature in behaviour for both anti-periodic fermion boundary conditions (where  $L_c \sim 1/T$ ), or the more interesting case of periodic conditions (where  $L_c \sim (\lambda_p T^2)^{-\frac{1}{5-p}}$ ).

In this section we wish to emphasise one of the most interesting parts of using naive strong coupling extrapolation of the moduli theory. For simplicity we now assume our spatial directions are non-compact. Then the strongly coupled phase dual to the D*p*-brane has the thermodynamic behaviour as in (2.36) in the 't Hooft regime. A natural question is what happens as we go to even stronger coupling, so  $N^q \ll \lambda^{\frac{1}{5-p}}$  for q > 0 - does this behaviour persist?

The first thing to emphasise is that the dual black D*p*-brane description breaks down at strong coupling as the IIA/B string loop corrections become large at the black brane horizon. The condition that the dilaton becomes of order one occurs when,

$$\lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}} \sim N^{\frac{2}{7-p}} \tag{4.1}$$

at a dimensionless temperature  $\tilde{T} = T \lambda_p^{-1/(3-p)} = \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{-1/(3-p)}$  which we call  $\tilde{T}_{Dp}$ , so,

$$\tilde{T}_{Dp} \sim N^{-\frac{2(5-p)}{(7-p)(3-p)}}.$$
(4.2)

Beyond this coupling and temperature then this IIA or IIB gravity dual description breaks down. However, we note that this scale does not appear in the moduli theory, and hence we might imagine that the estimates for the thermal behaviour still persist even beyond this point. Indeed this is the case. We regard this as one of the most powerful aspects of the moduli approach as we will now describe.

In all the cases of p = 0, ..., 6, when one pushes the temperature past  $\tilde{T}_{Dp}$  to stronger coupling, one is able to change to an alternate gravity dual. For p even, this is found by uplifting the IIA black D*p*-brane to M-theory. Since such an oxidation of a black brane does not change the thermodynamics, we see that while the description requires a new gravity dual, in fact the thermodynamics are not changed. In the cases where p is odd, one may perform a IIB S-duality,  $g_s \rightarrow 1/g_s$ , on the black D*p*-brane. The large string coupling near the horizon is now controlled in the new S-dual frame. The type of black brane changes, so D1  $\rightarrow$  F1 and D5  $\rightarrow$  NS5, with D3 being self dual. However, the transformation of the black brane solution under S-duality does not change the thermodynamics.

Hence extrapolating the moduli to strong coupling and estimating the thermodynamics not only gives the correct behaviour of the dual black Dp-brane, but also gives the correct behaviour going to stronger coupling where the black Dp-brane description breaks down.

Consider the odd p cases. The reason this works is of course that the moduli theory deduced from the SYM describes not only the Dp-branes, but is S-duality invariant, and thus is also the moduli theory that describes the S-dual black branes in the sense of [35]. Hence the same estimates give the correct behaviour of this S-dual black brane. Consider only the scalar degrees of freedom of the leading moduli theory, written in terms of the gravitational variables  $X_a^I$  (given in terms of Yang-Mills variables earlier in section 2.6),  $\mu = (2\pi)^{-p} g_s^{-1} \alpha'^{-\frac{1+p}{2}}$  and  $2\kappa^2 = (2\pi)^7 g_s^2 \alpha'^4$ , which up to one loop are,

$$S^{\text{scalar}} = \int d\tau dx^{p} \frac{\mu}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{N} (\partial_{\mu} \vec{X}_{a})^{2}$$
$$- \frac{\mu^{2} \kappa^{2}}{4(7-p)\Omega_{8-p}} \sum_{a < b} \frac{2 \left(\partial_{\mu} \vec{X}_{ab} \cdot \partial_{\nu} \vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{2} - \left(\partial_{\mu} \vec{X}_{ab} \cdot \partial^{\mu} \vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{2}}{\left|\vec{X}_{ab}\right|^{7-p}}$$
$$+ O(\kappa^{4}) \tag{4.3}$$

and precisely give the weakly coupled dynamics of nearly parallel *p*-branes in 10-dimensions as discussed in [35]. Under an appropriate re-identification of  $\mu$  and  $\kappa^2$  in terms of string theory parameters the action also describes the S-dual brane. For example, in the case p = 1 for the black D1-brane in IIB we have  $\mu \sim 1/(g_s \alpha')$  and  $\kappa^2 \sim g_s^2 \alpha'^4$ . However following [35] the S-dual brane, a black F1-string, has the same moduli action with the same  $\mu$  and  $\kappa^2$ , now regarded as  $\mu \sim 1/(\alpha'^{F1})$  and  $\kappa^2 \sim (g_s^{F1})^2(\alpha'^{F1})^4$  in terms of the S-dual IIB string parameters  $g_s^{F1} = 1/g_s$  and  $\alpha'^{F1} = g_s \alpha'$ . A detailed discussion of the various cases of p is given as part of appendix A.

We now focus on what happens at even stronger coupling. In some cases the M-theory descriptions, or S-dual IIB black brane descriptions predict a new phase transition, or a new physical behaviour. We will see that in certain cases this new physical behaviour can be understood precisely as being due to new sources of corrections to the moduli theory that become important. In other cases we currently have only a qualitative understanding for why the moduli description must change.

One interesting point to note is that the weakly coupled moduli theory itself has a thermal behaviour  $\epsilon \sim NT^{p+1}$  (2.6), while the strong coupling estimates for the moduli theory give the behaviour of a D*p*-brane (2.36)  $\epsilon \sim N^2 \tilde{T}^{2(7-p)/(5-p)} \lambda^{(1+p)/(3-p)}$ . These two behaviours coincide at the dimensionless temperature  $\tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$ , where,

$$\tilde{T}_{\text{free}} \sim N^{-\frac{5-p}{(3-p)^2}}.$$
 (4.4)

Now recall the strong coupling regime is valid only for  $1 \ll \lambda_{\text{eff}}^{\frac{1}{5-p}} = \tilde{T}^{-(3-p)/(5-p)}$ , otherwise the non-leading terms in the moduli action become important (being dual to  $\alpha'$  effects becoming important). Firstly we must check whether the temperature  $\tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$  is in the allowed range where the strong coupling estimate is valid, which requires,

$$1 \ll \tilde{T}_{\text{free}}^{-\frac{3-p}{5-p}} = N^{\frac{1}{3-p}}$$
(4.5)

and since we are considering large N, we see the free moduli regime only coincides with our strong coupling behaviour in equation (2.36) for p < 3. Then going to temperatures  $T \leq \tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$ , so to stronger coupling, assuming the D*p*-brane behaviour is not modified, then the free moduli behaviour will dominate the partition function. It will be interesting to note that for p = 2 in fact a new strong coupling transition occurs before this weak thermal scale is reached, due to monopole effects, which changes the strong coupling behaviour to a conformal phase  $\epsilon \sim N^{3/2}T^3$ , which therefore always dominates the weak thermal behaviour. However for p = 0 and p = 1 at sufficiently low temperatures one does indeed reach this weak thermal scale. As we shall discuss, for p = 1 this results in the free orbifold CFT behaviour. For p = 0, the status of this weakly coupled thermal behaviour is less clear due to IR divergences, but would represent a weakly interacting gas of D0-branes. However, in fact there is another strongly coupled phase of the theory which becomes relevant at low temperature, also dominating the black D0-brane behaviour of (2.36). This has an M-theory dual and we shall discuss it shortly.

## 4.1 p = 1: free orbifold CFT

For p = 1 at strongly coupled low temperatures  $\tilde{T} < \tilde{T}_{D1} \sim N^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  a IIB S-duality on the black D1-brane gives a controlled description in terms of a dual black F1-string solution, with the same thermodynamic behaviour. However at sufficiently low temperature this solution also breaks down, and the theory is expected to transition to the free orbifold CFT behaviour [46–48]. This occurs at  $\tilde{T} \sim \tilde{T}_{\text{free}} \sim 1/N$ , and for lower temperatures a thermodynamics,

$$\epsilon \sim NT^2 \tag{4.6}$$

is expected. In fact this free orbifold CFT is nothing other than the weakly coupled moduli theory. For p = 1 the gauge fields have no local dynamics, and at weak coupling the bosonic degrees of freedom are free conformal scalar fields. The subtlety we noted at footnote 4 is that the target space metric for the scalar fields is not that of  $(\mathbb{R}^8)^N$ , but rather it is the symmetric product  $S_N \mathbb{R}^8$ , due to the branes being identical. As discussed, in the gauge theory derivation of the moduli action this orbifolding occurs due to the residual gauge transformations that permute the diagonal entries in the scalar matrices.

Thus the moduli theory for p = 1 naively extrapolated to strong coupling for  $T \ll 1$  correctly yields the thermal behaviour which in the regime  $\tilde{T}_{D1} < \tilde{T}$  is described by the black D1-brane, and for  $\tilde{T}_{\text{free}} < \tilde{T} < \tilde{T}_{D1}$  is described by an S-dual black F1-brane. However at  $\tilde{T} \sim \tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$  the weakly coupled moduli behaviour dominates that of the virialised phase, and this is precisely the free orbifold CFT.

#### 4.2 p = 2: M2 brane transition on the 11-circle

Perhaps the most elegant very strong coupling example is that for p = 2. The black M2brane dual description valid where the D2-brane description breaks down at the strongly coupled temperature scale  $\tilde{T} < \tilde{T}_{D2} \sim N^{-\frac{6}{5}}$  is the dimensional oxidation of the D2, and the M2 brane is smeared over the M-theory 11-circle. As the temperature further decreases gravity analysis of the smeared M2 brane implies a Gregory-Laflamme transition will occur to a black M2 localised on the 11-circle at a dimensionless temperature  $\tilde{T}_{11} \sim N^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ . For  $\tilde{T} \ll \tilde{T}_{11}$  the gravity dual will have a new thermodynamics, that of a localised black M2 brane, where in our Yang-Mills variables,

$$\epsilon = \frac{16\pi^4}{81\sqrt{3\Omega_7}} N^{3/2} T^3 \tag{4.7}$$

and we note the conformal behaviour is governed only by the temperature, and not the coupling  $\lambda_2$ .

Now let us consider the (2 + 1)-dimensional SYM theory. It is known that for SU(2) gauge group in (2 + 1)-dimensions, there are monopole corrections to the one-loop action going as [63, 64];

$$S_{\text{one-loop}}^{3\text{dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^2 x \frac{2\pi}{\Omega_6} \frac{|\partial_\mu \phi|^4}{|\phi|^5} \left( 1 + e^{-\frac{\phi - i\phi^8}{g_{YM}^2}} + \dots \right).$$
(4.8)

Here  $\phi^8$  is the dual of the three-dimensional gauge field, which is a periodic variable  $\phi^8 \sim \phi^8 + 2\pi g_{YM}^2$ . In [63, 64] it was argued that higher instanton corrections re-sum so that the 4 derivative term is multiplied by the harmonic function associated to the transverse brane space in the 11-d M-theory, with the dual gauge field  $\phi^8$  playing the role of the 11-coordinate. Such corrections can be generalised to SU(N) [65], which we expect yields,

$$S_{\text{one-loop}}^{3\text{dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^2 x \sum_{a < b} \frac{2\pi}{\Omega_6} \frac{\left| \partial_\mu \left( \vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b \right) \right|^4}{|\vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b|^5} \left( 1 + e^{-\frac{\left| \phi_a - i\phi_b^8 \right|}{g_{YM}^2}} + \dots \right). \tag{4.9}$$

We may deduce that this correction term becomes important when  $|\phi_a - i\phi_b^8| \sim g_{YM}^2$ , and hence, using our estimates,

$$1 \sim \frac{1}{g_{YM}^2} \chi \sim \frac{N}{\lambda_2} \left( \pi \lambda_2 T^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \tilde{T} = \frac{1}{\lambda_2} T \sim N^{-\frac{3}{2}}$$
(4.10)

where in the last relation we have dropped geometric factors. Hence from the moduli theory we can see that the estimates from the leading theory, giving D2-brane behaviour, will be modified precisely at the scale  $\tilde{T}_{11}$ , in exact agreement with the gravity analysis.

In the case SU(2) the instanton sum can remarkably be computed to yield the 4derivative term above controlled by a harmonic function in the transverse space to the D*p*-brane in 11-d rather than in 10-d, with the dual gauge field  $\phi^8$  playing the role of the extra 11-th dimension [2, 64]. Thus, our expectation is that for SU(N) a similar re-summation may be made to yield the leading one-loop contribution,

$$S_{\text{one-loop}}^{3\text{dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^2 x \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^8 l_{\text{pl}}^9}{\Omega_7} \frac{\left| \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 l_{\text{pl}}^3} \left\{ \left( \partial \vec{X}_a - \partial \vec{X}_b \right)^2 + \left( \partial X_a^8 - \partial X_b^8 \right)^2 \right\} \right|^2}{\left| (\vec{X}_a - \vec{X}_b)^2 + (X_a^8 - X_b^8 + 2\pi nR)^2 \right|^3}$$
(4.11)

where we have suppressed some index structure, and have introduced the radius of the M-theory circle, R, and eleven-dimensional Planck length  $l_{\rm pl}$  as,

$$X_a^I = 2\pi \alpha' \phi_a^I , \qquad R = g_s \sqrt{\alpha'} , \qquad l_{\rm pl}^3 = g_s {\alpha'}^{\frac{3}{2}}$$
(4.12)

where the index I = 1, ..., 8, as the gauge field has been dualised to the scalar  $X_a^8$ . This one-loop action, together with the classical moduli kinetic terms, gives the dynamics of nearly parallel M2-branes transverse to the M-theory 11-circle and weakly interacting gravitationally, and may be derived from 11-d supergravity following [35]. It may also be derived from the moduli dynamics of ABJM theory with k = 1 [33].

For temperatures  $\tilde{T} \ll N^{-3/2}$  the estimate for the scalars  $\vec{X}_a$  will be  $|\vec{X}_a| \ll R$  and hence only the n = 0 term in the sum contributes. Then the leading action in the new low temperature strongly coupled phase up to one loop becomes,

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{3\text{dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^2 x \sum_{a} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 l_{\text{pl}}^3} \left(\partial X_a^I\right)^2 + \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^4 l_{\text{pl}}^3}{\Omega_7} \frac{\left(\partial X_a^I - \partial X_b^I\right)^4}{\left|X_a^I - X_b^I\right|^6} \tag{4.13}$$

which now gives the weakly coupled dynamics of M2-branes in a flat transverse space, so localised on the M-theory circle [35]. Our estimates will then give precisely the correct thermodynamic behaviour (4.7) that agrees with the localised black M2-brane. As noted above, this thermodynamics with  $\epsilon \sim N^{3/2}T^3$  is never dominated by the weakly coupled thermal moduli behaviour  $\epsilon \sim NT^3$  at large N.

#### 4.3 p = 0: D0-brane bound states

Unlike the cases for p = 1 and p = 2 above, the case p = 0 again has a transition to a new strongly coupled behaviour at very low temperature, but our understanding of it from the moduli perspective is considerably less clear.

In the case p = 0 then going to strongly coupled low temperatures  $\tilde{T} < \tilde{T}_{D0} \sim N^{-\frac{10}{21}}$ we must lift the black D0-brane solution to M-theory. This yields a boosted black string wrapping the M-theory circle. Going to lower temperatures still, gravity predicts that this black string will exhibit a Gregory-Laflamme transition on the circle, the gravity analysis indicating the transition occurs at  $\tilde{T} \sim \tilde{T}_{11} \sim N^{-\frac{5}{9}}$ . For  $\tilde{T} \ll \tilde{T}_{11}$  then gravity predicts the thermodynamics to be that of an 11-d black hole boosted on the M-theory circle, which has a different behaviour,

$$\epsilon \sim \pi^{\frac{16}{7}} N^{\frac{12}{7}} \tilde{T}^{\frac{16}{7}} \lambda_0^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
(4.14)

Note that the transition temperature  $\tilde{T}_{11}$  is precisely the temperature at which the entropy of the theory is  $S \sim N$ , or the energy is  $\epsilon \sim NT$ , which is the free scale,  $\tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$ , discussed above.<sup>17</sup>

In fact reproducing this M-theory black hole behaviour is precisely the first context that the strong coupling estimates using the virial theorem where first employed by [25, 28]. The key observation of [25] is that it is natural that the moduli theory accounts for an entropy which goes as  $\sim N$ . However, the method of estimation due to [28] that reproduces the behaviour (4.14) is very different to ours. The claim is that at the transition point, the D0-branes and hence the moduli fields clump together into (zero energy) bound states. Thus one cannot consider the thermal behaviour of the moduli, but rather the thermal behaviour of these composite objects. In the appendix C we review the arguments of [28] using a language more familiar to our work here. However understanding the dynamics of the bound states of moduli for the p = 0 BFSS matrix model [17] is an outstanding problem, and further study to elucidate their thermodynamics.

#### 4.4 p = 3: S-duality

From our estimates for the case p = 3 the moduli theory correctly predicts the behaviour of the black D3-brane and also confirms that it breaks down for  $\lambda_3 \leq 1$  where the non-leading terms become relevant. Indeed for  $\lambda_3 \ll 1$  the SYM should become perturbative. However, since (3 + 1)-SYM is expected to be invariant under the S-duality  $\lambda_3 \rightarrow \tilde{\lambda}_3 = (2\pi)^2 N^2 / \lambda_3$ , then going to very strong coupling  $N^2 \ll \lambda_3$  should be equivalent to weak coupling in the S-dual theory where  $\tilde{\lambda}_3 \ll 1$ . Thus we expect the strongly coupled black D3-brane behaviour will only apply in the coupling range  $1 \ll \lambda_3 \ll N^2$ . In the gravity dual the black D3 brane solution breaks down at strong coupling  $\lambda_3 \sim N$  due to string coupling corrections. However, at stronger coupling still, control is restored by bulk S-duality, where the S-dual description is again a black D3-brane with the same thermodynamic behaviour, and indeed going to very strong coupling  $\lambda_3 \sim N^2$  this S-dual D3-brane description breaks down due to  $\tilde{\alpha}' = g_s \alpha'$  corrections.

The leading moduli theory (4.3) for p = 3 is invariant under S-duality after the field redefinition,

$$A_a^M \to \tilde{A}_a^M = \frac{2\pi N}{\lambda_3} A_a^M \,. \tag{4.15}$$

However, our corrections to this leading theory, such as the thermal one in equation (2.12), are not S-duality invariant. Since the full SYM is S-duality invariant, this implies there are other non-perturbative corrections. For example, this thermal correction is proportional to  $e^{-\beta|\vec{\phi}_{ab}|}$  and is relevant in the weak coupling regime  $\lambda_3 \ll 1$ . Then S-duality predicts that corresponding terms proportional to the same exponential factor with  $\phi^I \to \tilde{\phi}^I$  must exist, and hence be proportional to,

$$e^{-\frac{2\pi N}{\lambda_3}\beta|\vec{\phi}_{ab}|} \sim e^{-\frac{1}{g_{YM}^2}2\pi\beta|\vec{\phi}_{ab}|}.$$
 (4.16)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>This coincidence between  $\tilde{T}_{11}$  and  $\tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$  is mysterious, since the free scalar moduli in p = 0 behave as free particles, and the entropy diverges and would dominate at any temperature. Thus  $\tilde{T}_{\text{free}}$  may not make sense in p = 0. Nonetheless these temperatures do seem to agree and it might be interesting to investigate their relation.

The form of the exponent going as  $\sim 1/g_{YM}^2$  is obviously suggestive that such terms arise from instanton corrections, and it would be very interesting to see how such terms arise by direct computation. From our estimates in equation (2.39) we see  $\beta |\vec{\phi}_{ab}| \sim \sqrt{\lambda_3}$  and thus such non-perturbative corrections to the leading moduli action would indeed become relevant when  $\lambda_3 \sim N^2$ , and signal the breakdown of the leading moduli theory.

## 4.5 p = 4, 5, 6

In the cases p = 4, 5, 6 going to strong coupling temperatures beyond  $\tilde{T}_{Dp}$  the black D*p*brane description breaks down. However, a new gravity description that is S-dual or an M-theory lift indicates that the thermodynamics remains unchanged. Indeed we know of no corrections to the leading moduli theory that change its behaviour. For example, potential dominance by the free moduli thermal behaviour discussed earlier only occurs for p < 3. Hence our moduli theory agrees with the new S-dual or M-theory gravity predictions in this very strongly coupled regime.

Let us briefly consider why our estimates in the SYM moduli theory continue to reproduce the correct thermodynamic behaviour, even when the D*p*-brane dual breaks down. In [35] the moduli dynamics of N nearly parallel branes weakly interacting gravitationally was discussed. As we have reviewed, the SYM moduli theory precisely realises this dynamics for D*p*-branes. However, in these cases p = 4, 5, 6 it also precisely realises the dynamics of the other dual branes. For p = 4 it reproduces the moduli dynamics of the lifted M5-brane after it has been dimensionally reduced on the 11-circle. Similarly, for p = 5, the D5 moduli dynamics is just the same as the S-dual NS5 brane dynamics. Hence the estimates of the M5 and NS5 thermodynamics simply reproduce the same result as the estimates for the D4 and D5-brane thermodynamics, and thus our SYM moduli estimates. This is reviewed in more detail in appendix A.

#### 4.6 Summary

In summary, the moduli theory correctly predicts the thermodynamic behaviour of dual black Dp-branes, but also correctly predicts that this thermodynamic behaviour continues to stronger coupling beyond the applicability of the gravity dual. For all cases, except p = 0, the SYM and moduli theory, with natural assumptions for non-perturbative corrections, allows one to understand when this particular thermodynamic behaviour changes to that of a new phase. For p = 0, there is some understanding of why our estimates break down at the transition point predicted in M-theory.

As an example application of these ideas in appendix A we have described the full phase diagram of maximally supersymmetric (p + 1)-Yang-Mills on a spatial circle. This combines the various strong coupling phenomena above together with the Gregory-Laflamme transitions on the circle. The reader will see that the dual gravity description is extremely complicated, involving Dp, M2, M5, F1, NS5, gravitational waves and KK monopoles, and yet the predictions from the moduli theory simply involve the estimates above, and knowledge of the corrections due to the circle or very strong coupling.

#### 5 Outlook

We have discussed how we may use the theory of the SYM moduli, which are computed in a weak coupling limit, to make estimates of the strong coupling behaviour of the thermal SYM, by applying our previous ideas [35] to the case of SYM. Remarkably, such strong coupling extrapolation yields precisely the correct parametric behaviour for the thermodynamics, including certain geometric factors such as  $\pi$ 's and sphere volumes. Presumably this results from non-renormalisation theorems associated to the maximal supersymmetry, and is related to the well known 4/3 factor in the free energy density going from the perturbative regime to strong coupling having a simple form, when in principle it could have had a complicated transcendental structure. Furthermore, as was known previously [30], the moduli theory is self consistent in that it predicts its own breakdown when the perturbative SYM regime is reached. Beyond estimating the thermodynamics, the moduli picture may also allow us to predict other observables. For example, we have argued that the estimate for the Polyakov-Maldacena loop appears to agree with the gravity expectation.

Something we have emphasised is that the regime where the strong coupling estimates predict the SYM behaviour is very complicated to describe from a dual gravity perspective. In particular for even p the IIA dual gravity black Dp-brane description breaks down at very strong coupling and an M-theory description is required. For odd p the IIB gravity breaks down and an S-dual description in terms of F1, dual D3 or NS5 branes is required. However, the moduli theory simply applies in all these regimes with no modification. As such it can be seen to provide a unified view of the various phases of the thermodynamics of Dp, M2, M5, F1 and NS5 branes.

We have extended discussion of the moduli theory to include a compact spatial circle. The leading moduli theory is computed at weak coupling, and when estimates are made to extrapolate to strong coupling, these correctly account for the phase transitions on the circle, associated to gauge theory confinement/deconfinement transitions and in the dual gravity, Gregory-Laflamme behaviour. In the case of p = 2, we have also shown how a strong coupling transition occurs, again changing the thermal behaviour, that is correctly accounted for in the moduli approach due to the monopole correction of [63]. In this case the dual interpretation is a Gregory-Laflamme behaviour on the M-theory circle. We have discussed other transitions that are predicted by the dual string/M theory to occur at very strong coupling, and have argued that these may all be simply understood within the moduli picture.

As an illustration of these ideas in the appendix A we have provided a full discussion of the thermal phase diagram for SYM with one compact circle. The purpose of this is to demonstrate that a simple application of the estimates, and understanding of possible strong coupling corrections to the moduli theory, can explain a range of behaviours that are very complicated to deduce using dual holographic arguments, requiring many different dual gravity descriptions to cover the full phase diagram.

In this work we have treated the moduli as a tool. However, one might wonder whether the moduli theory, restricted to its leading terms (to all derivative order), makes sense in its own right when it is strongly coupled. This point of view was raised in our previous work [35]. We stress this point of view is not necessary when considering the moduli as a tool to understand SYM behaviour, but it is clearly an interesting question. In particular, it would be interesting to understand the significance of the leading terms of the moduli theory at strong coupling through the scale transformation in equation (2.25).

In conclusion we have argued that the moduli theory provides a simple tool to analyse strongly coupled thermal SYM behaviour in diverse dimensions, including cases where some of these dimensions are compact. Of course it does not give precise answers. However unlike usual perturbation theory, it can be computed in a weak coupling regime and then simply extrapolated to strong coupling to yield the correct behaviour, making predictions for the behaviour of the thermal vevs of certain observables such as the energy density and the Maldacena loop. Our hope is that such a simple and unified gauge theory description of the salient features of the strongly coupled SYM thermal phase diagram, and prediction for various observables in these phases, will help inform future approaches to directly solve the thermal SYM, including numerical studies. In particular, it allows a straightforward and intuitive understanding of the thermal behaviour, which is usually obscured in direct approaches.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Kostas Skenderis, David Tong and Arkady Tseyltin for useful discussions.

## A Summary of thermal phases for (p+1)-SYM on a circle

We have studied the corrections to the leading moduli theory (4.3) from compactification on a spatial circle in section 3 and from very strong coupling effects in section 4. In order to illustrate these ideas we consider the p + 1-dimensional SYM theories (p = 1, ..., 6) compactified on a circle with radius L. The results are summarised in figure 1, 2 and 3. Importantly these results are qualitatively in agreement with supergravity, including in the M-theory regime.

The SYM leading moduli theory describes the dynamics of weakly interacting nearly parallel Dp-branes. We will term this dynamical theory the moduli theory of the branes, as in [35]. We will see that this moduli theory is mapped to the theory describing the dynamics of different branes related by dualities as argued in section 3 and 4. Once we obtain this moduli action for the branes, our strong coupling estimates predict its thermodynamics will reproduce that of the corresponding black branes [35].

Since the phase structure of the SYM theories are similar, we here will show the details of the thermodynamics of the two-dimensional SYM theory (LEFT of figure 1), and we then will discuss the other SYM theories briefly.

#### A.1 Two-dimensional SYM theory on a circle

In this section we consider the phase structure of the two-dimensional SYM theory on a spatial circle with radius L.



Figure 1. Phase structure of the 2d SYM (LEFT) and 3d SYM (RIGHT) on a circle with the radius L. The red lines denote the GL transitions. The green lines denote the phase transition associated with the zero energy bound state in the 0-brane. The blue lines are the phase transition related to the monopole potential of the D2-brane. The dotted lines denote the borders where the description of the brane solution in the supergravity becomes subtle and we need to use the dualities (S or T-duality, or M-theory lift). The bar '—' denotes the smeared objects.

**Perturbative SYM.** If the coupling constant is small,  $\lambda_1/T^2 \ll 1$ , we can evaluate the thermodynamics perturbatively as argued in section 2.1. Because of the compactification, there is a phase transition related to the GL transition that occurs even in this region [40]. We have omitted this phase transition in figure 1, since it is beyond the scope of this paper. See [41, 42] for the analytic calculation of this transition.

**Black D1 brane.** At strong coupling  $(\lambda_1/T^2 \gg 1)$ , the effective theory of this system is given by the leading moduli theory (4.3)

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{2\text{dSYM}} = \frac{1}{2\pi g_s \alpha'} \int d\tau \int_0^{2\pi L} dx^1 \sum_{a=1}^N \frac{1}{2} (\partial X_a^I)^2 - \frac{(2\pi)^7 g_s^2 \alpha'^4}{\Omega_7} \int d\tau \int_0^{2\pi L} dx^1 \sum_{a(A.1)$$

Here we have ignored the contribution of the gauge field, that was argued to appear as in (3.1), by assuming  $L\phi \gg 1$ . This effective action is the same as the moduli action of the D1-brane (2.7) wrapping the compact circle L. This D1-brane moduli action reproduces the black D1-brane thermodynamics from the general argument in section 2. This phase corresponds to the region labelled by 'D1' in figure 1.

S-duality and F1-strings. We can rewrite the moduli action (A.1) by using the parameters  $g_s^{\text{F1}} \equiv 1/g_s$  and  $\alpha'^{\text{F1}} \equiv g_s \alpha'$ , obtaining

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{2\text{dSYM}} = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'^{\text{F1}}} \int d\tau \int_0^{2\pi L} dx^1 \sum_{a=1}^N \frac{1}{2} (\partial X_a^I)^2$$

$$-\frac{(2\pi)^7 (g_s^{\text{F1}})^2 (\alpha'^{\text{F1}})^4}{\Omega_7} \int d\tau \int_0^{2\pi L} dx^1 \sum_{a$$

This action represents gravitationally interacting F1-strings, whose tension is  $1/\alpha'^{F1}$ .<sup>18</sup> In IIB supergravity, if the coupling is large  $(\lambda_1/T^2 \gg N^{\frac{4}{3}})$ , the black D1-brane solution is not reliable and we should use *S*-duality and instead consider the black F1-brane solution. Correspondingly the moduli effective theory of the D1-brane may provide the microscopic description of the black F1-brane through (A.2). This region is labelled by 'F1' in figure 1.

**Free orbifold CFT.** At very strong coupling the system will flow to the orbifold CFT, as argued in section 4.1. There, the energy is given by

$$E \sim NT^2 L \,. \tag{A.3}$$

Because of the compactification, there may be some additional phase structure within this conformal phase, but it is beyond the scope of this article.

**GL transition to localised D0-brane.** So far we have considered strong coupling effects in the 2d SYM theory. We now turn our attention to finite L effects. As argued in section 3.1, we can map the D1 moduli action (A.1) to the D0 brane moduli action<sup>19</sup>

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{2\text{dSYM}} = \frac{1}{g'_{s} \alpha'^{1/2}} \int d\tau \sum_{a=1}^{N} \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\tau} X_{a}^{I})^{2} - \frac{(2\pi)^{7} g'_{s}^{2} \alpha'^{4}}{8 \cdot 7\Omega_{8}} \int d\tau \sum_{a < b}^{N} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{g'_{s} \alpha'^{1/2}}\right)^{2} \left(\partial_{\tau} \vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{4}}{\left|\left(\vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{2} + \left(X_{ab}^{1} + 2\pi nL'\right)^{2}\right|^{7/2}} + \cdots$$
(A.4)

Here we have taken  $X^1$  as the circle direction, and used the T-duality relation  $L' \equiv \alpha'/L$ and  $g'_s \equiv g_s \sqrt{\alpha'}/L$ . In this model, the phase transition corresponding the GL transition will occur around  $X \sim L' \equiv \alpha'/L$ . In terms of the temperature, the transition occurs at

$$T_{\rm GL} \sim \frac{1}{\pi \lambda_0^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\frac{L'}{\alpha'}\right)^{\frac{5}{2}} \sim \frac{1}{\lambda_1^{\frac{1}{2}}L^2}.$$
 (A.5)

This is the red line in figure 1. If L is smaller than this critical size, the D0-branes are clumped along the  $X^1$  circle. This phase is labelled by 'D0' in figure 1. The thermodynamics of this model is given by (2.36) with p = 0 and  $\lambda_0 = \lambda_1/2\pi L$ .

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$ For instance, this can be seen by comparing this action to the general formula for the moduli action presented in (4.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>We obtained this equation from (3.8) and the dimensional reduction of the compact space. We note that the dimensional reduction would not affect the low energy thermodynamics which we are interested in.

Eleven-dimensional boosted black hole. Below the critical temperature (C.4) with D = 11 and  $2\kappa_D^2 = (2\pi)^8 l_{\rm pl}^9$ , the D0-branes may form zero-energy bound states. When this occurs the effective action (A.4) becomes

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{D0,bound}} = \frac{N}{RM} \int d\tau \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\tau} X_{a}^{I})^{2}$$
(A.6)  
$$- \frac{(2\pi)^{7} l_{\text{pl}}^{9}}{8 \cdot 7\Omega_{8}R} \int d\tau \sum_{a < b}^{M} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\delta p_{-}=0}^{N/M} \left(\frac{N}{RM}\right)^{2} f(\delta p_{-}) \frac{\left(\partial_{\tau} \vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{4}}{\left|\left(\vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{2} + \left(X_{ab}^{1} + 2\pi nL'\right)^{2}\right|^{7/2}} + \cdots$$

Here we have used the M-theory parameters (4.12) with  $g_s \to g'_s = g_s \sqrt{\alpha'}/L$ , since we had taken the T-dual. If L' is large, we can ignore sum of the mirror branes and the thermodynamics is given by (C.13) with D = 11. The label 'W11' in figure 1 represents this phase.

**Ten-dimensional wave in IIA supergravity.** Starting from the moduli effective action for the F1-string (A.2) and taking the radius L to be small, we obtain

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{2dSYM}} = \frac{1}{\tilde{L}} \int d\tau \sum_{a=1}^{N} \frac{1}{2} (\partial X_a^I)^2 - \frac{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{g}_s^2 (\alpha'^{\text{F1}})^4}{2\pi \tilde{L} \Omega_7} \int d\tau \sum_{a$$

via a KK reduction. Here  $\tilde{L} = \alpha'^{\text{F1}}/L$  and  $\tilde{g}_s = g_s^{\text{F1}}\sqrt{\alpha'^{\text{F1}}}/L$ . This action describes N gravitationally interacting particles whose masses are  $1/\tilde{L}$  in nine dimensions. This ninedimensional spacetime results from the KK reduction from ten dimensions on a circle whose radius is  $\tilde{L}$ . Since  $1/\tilde{L}$  is the KK mass, we interpret the action (A.7) as the moduli action for the waves which carry the KK momentum along the  $S_{\tilde{L}}^1$ . This interpretation is natural because we can obtain the wave from the winding F1-string (A.2) via T-duality.

The waves can form a zero-energy bound state, and as we shall argue in appendix C, this bound state will dominate at low temperatures. The effective action for the bound state is given by,

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{D0,bound}} = \frac{N}{\tilde{L}M} \int d\tau \sum_{a=1}^{M} \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\tau} X_{a}^{I})^{2} \\ -\frac{(2\pi)^{7} \tilde{g}_{s}^{2} \left(\alpha'^{\text{F1}}\right)^{4}}{2\pi \tilde{L}\Omega_{7}} \int d\tau \sum_{a$$

Through a similar calculation to that of the D0-brane example, we can estimate the thermodynamics of this system as

$$X \sim \left(\frac{\tilde{g}_{s}^{2} (\alpha'^{\mathrm{F1}})^{4} NT}{\pi^{3} \tilde{L}}\right)^{\frac{1}{6}}, \qquad E \sim \left(\frac{\pi^{3} N^{4} \tilde{g}_{s}^{2} (\alpha'^{\mathrm{F1}})^{4}}{\tilde{L}^{4}}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} T^{\frac{7}{3}}.$$
 (A.9)

In ten dimensions the wave corresponds to the boosted black string, whilst the wave bound state corresponds to the boosted localised black hole. The labels  $\overline{W10}$  and W10 in figure 1 represent these phases.

Note that the moduli effective actions for the ten-dimensional wave (A.8) are obtained from the effective action for the D0-brane (A.6) by taking L' to be small and identifying L' as the new M-theory circle.<sup>20</sup> To see this, we may use the following relations

$$R = \tilde{L}, \qquad L' = \tilde{g}_s \sqrt{\alpha'^{\text{F1}}}, \qquad l_{\text{pl}}^3 = \tilde{g}_s \left(\alpha'^{\text{F1}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (A.10)

These relations may be compared with those of (4.12). One can see that the roles of the M-theory circle, R, and the compact circle, L', in the original D0-brane theory (A.4) have been swapped in the wave theory (A.7). This is because we have taken an S-duality in obtaining this wave theory, as part of the sequence of dualities (D0  $\xrightarrow{T}$  D1  $\xrightarrow{S}$  F1  $\xrightarrow{T}$  wave).

#### A.2 Other SYM theories on a circle

In this section we briefly explain the phase structure of the p + 1-dimensional SYM ( $p = 2, \ldots, 6$ ) on a circle with radius L. Since the phases are structurally similar to the 2d SYM case, we will only highlight some important features of their respective phase diagrams.

#### A.2.1 3d SYM

The phase diagram for 3d SYM on a circle is shown in figure 1 (RIGHT), where four phases appear. One is the free orbifold CFT, and the others may be labelled by localised black D1-branes (D1), the black D2-branes (D2) and localised black M2-branes (M2). Each phase may also be described using other branes, by applying appropriate dualities at the location of the dotted lines in figure 1, just as in section A.1.

The phase transitions among these phases are related either to the GL transition, or to the monopole effect associated with the GL transition along the M-theory circle. These are shown by the red and blue lines in figure 1, respectively.

F1-strings from M2-branes. In this phase diagram the IIA F1-string regime is connected to the M2-brane regime. Related to this structure, we can see that the moduli actions for these branes are also related. The moduli action for the M2-branes appear in the 3d SYM theory as shown in (4.11). In the case where the 3d SYM theory is compactified on a circle with radius R, the M2-brane moduli action becomes

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{M2}} = \int d\tau dx^1 \int_0^{2\pi R} dx^2 \sum_a \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 l_{\text{pl}}^3} \left(\partial X_a^I\right)^2 + \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^8 l_{\text{pl}}^9}{\Omega_7} \frac{\left|\frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 l_{\text{pl}}^3} \left(\partial \vec{X}_a - \partial \vec{X}_b\right)^2\right|^2}{(\vec{X}_a - \vec{X}_b)^6}.$$
(A.11)

By taking R small and considering the KK-reduction, we obtain

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{M2}} \sim \int d\tau dx^1 \sum_{a} \frac{R}{2\pi l_{\text{pl}}^3} \left(\partial X_a^I\right)^2 + \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^7 l_{\text{pl}}^9}{\Omega_7 R} \frac{\left|\frac{R}{2\pi l_{\text{pl}}^3} \left(\partial \vec{X}_a - \partial \vec{X}_b\right)^2\right|^2}{(\vec{X}_a - \vec{X}_b)^6} \,. \tag{A.12}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>For this reason, we write the right hand side of the action (A.8) as  $S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{D0,bound}}$ .



Figure 2. Phase structure of the 4d SYM (LEFT) and 5d SYM (RIGHT) on a circle with the radius L.

By using the relations  $l_{\rm pl}^3/R = \alpha'_{\rm F1}$  and  $l_{\rm pl}^9/R = g_{sF1}^2 \alpha'_{F1}^4 = 2\kappa_{\rm F1}^2/(2\pi)^7$  (4.12), we can identify this action as the moduli action for the F1-strings. The thermal energies of F1 and M2-branes derived from these moduli actions are related,

$$E_{\rm F1} \sim (2\pi)^3 N^{\frac{3}{2}} T^3 g_{s\rm F1} \sqrt{\alpha_{\rm F1}'} V_1 = (2\pi)^2 N^{\frac{3}{2}} T^3 (2\pi R V_1) \sim E_{\rm M2} \,. \tag{A.13}$$

This result agrees with the fact that IIA F1-string is obtained from M2-brane through the double dimensional reduction.

## A.2.2 4d SYM

The phase diagram of 4d SYM theory on a circle is shown in figure 2 (LEFT), where four phases appear. These phases are described by the D3-brane moduli theory on a circle

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{4dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^2 x \int_0^{2\pi L} dx_3 \sum_a \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3 g_s \alpha'^2} \left( \partial X_a^I \right)^2$$

$$+ \sum_{n,m \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{a < b} \frac{(2\pi)^7 g_s^2 \alpha'^4}{\Omega_7} \frac{\left| \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3 g_s \alpha'^2} \left\{ \left( \partial \vec{X}_a - \partial \vec{X}_b \right)^2 + (2\pi \alpha')^2 \left( \partial a_a^3 - \partial a_b^3 \right)^2 + \left( \partial X_a^8 - \partial X_b^8 \right)^2 \right\} \right|^2}{\left| (\vec{X}_a - \vec{X}_b)^2 + (2\pi \alpha')^2 (a_a^3 - a_b^3 + n/L)^2 + (X_a^8 - X_b^8 + 2\pi mR)^2 \right|^3}$$
(A.14)

where  $a_a^3$  are gauge moduli for the winding direction, and the interactions arise as argued in (3.1).  $X^8$  is the scalar dual to the components of the gauge field in the three non-compact directions  $A_{0,1,2}$ , which may appear by regarding the T-duality to the 3d SYM theory and the monopole effect. As argued in section 4.2,  $X^8$  corresponds to the M-theory direction. R is the M-theory radius defined in (4.12) by replacing  $g_s$  and  $\alpha'$  regarding the T-duality.

The four phases are characterised by the distributions of  $a^3$  and  $X^8$  along the two circles.

## A.2.3 5d SYM

Here we consider the moduli effective action for the five-dimensional SYM theory

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{5dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^4 x \frac{1}{(2\pi)^4 g_s {\alpha'}^{\frac{5}{2}}} \sum_a (\partial X_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^7 g_s^2 {\alpha'}^4}{\Omega_4} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^4 g_s {\alpha'}^{\frac{5}{2}}} (\partial X_{ab})^2\right)^2}{X_{ab}^3} + \cdots$$
(A.15)

At very strong coupling  $(\lambda_4 T \gg N^{\frac{2}{3}})$ , this action lifts to the M5-brane effective action

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{M5}} \sim \int d\tau d^5 x \frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 l_{\text{pl}}^6} \sum_a (\partial Y_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^8 l_{\text{pl}}^9}{\Omega_4} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 l_{\text{pl}}^6} (\partial Y_{ab})^2\right)^2}{Y_{ab}^3} + \cdots$$
(A.16)

which is obtained from (4.3) with  $\mu = 1/(2\pi)^5 l_{\rm pl}^6$  and  $2\kappa^2 = (2\pi)^8 l_{\rm pl}^9$ , which are the tension of the M5-brane and the eleven-dimensional gravitational coupling respectively. The M5brane moduli action can also be estimated from the six-dimensional (2,0) superconformal field theory by using a non-renormalisation theorem [33].

Indeed, if we compactify one of the longitudinal directions of the M5-brane effective action (A.16), say  $x^5$ , on a circle with radius R, the moduli fields may be expanded as

$$Y_a^I = X_a^{I(0)} + \sum_{n \neq 0} X_a^{I(n)} e^{inx_5/R}$$
(A.17)

and, by using the relation (4.12), the M5-brane effective action (A.16) becomes

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{M5}} = S_0^{\text{M5}} + S_2^{\text{M5}} + \dots$$

$$S_0^{\text{M5}} \sim \int d\tau d^4 x \sum_a \frac{1}{(2\pi)^4 g_s {\alpha'}^{\frac{5}{2}}} \left[ (\partial X_a^{(0)})^2 + \sum_{n \neq 0} \left( |\partial X_a^{(n)}|^2 + \frac{n^2}{R^2} |X_a^{(n)}|^2 \right) \right],$$

$$S_2^{\text{M5}} \sim \frac{(2\pi)^7 g_s^2 {\alpha'}^4}{\Omega_4} \int d\tau d^4 x \sum_{a < b} \frac{\left( \frac{1}{(2\pi)^4 g_s {\alpha'}^{\frac{5}{2}}} \left( \partial X_{ab}^{(0)} \right)^2 \right)^2}{\left( X_{ab}^{(0)} \right)^6} + (\text{terms including KK modes}).$$
(A.18)

Thus the action for the KK zero-modes agrees with the D4-brane moduli action (A.15).<sup>21</sup> It is a challenging question to derive the contributions from the KK non-zero mode in 5d SYM.

The thermal energies of the D4 and M5-branes which are derived from the moduli actions are connected through

$$E_{\rm D4} \sim (2\pi)^4 N^3 T^6 g_s \sqrt{\alpha'} V_4 = (2\pi)^3 N^3 T^6 (2\pi R V_4) \sim E_{\rm M5}$$
(A.19)

where we have used  $V_5 = 2\pi R V_4$  as pointed out in [33], and we do not expect any phase transition between these two solutions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>This holds not just for the scalar moduli fields, but for the gauge fields too, which are related as  $F_a^{ij} = F_a^{(0)ij5} = \epsilon_a^{ij5klm} F_a^{(0)klm}$ , where  $F_a^{ij}$  (i, j = 0, ..., 4) is the field strength of the U(1) gauge field on the *a*-th D4-brane and  $F_a^{\mu\nu\rho}$   $(\mu, \nu = 0, ..., 5)$  is the field strength of the self-dual two-form field on the *a*-th M5-brane.



Figure 3. Phase structure of the 6d SYM (LEFT) and 7d SYM (RIGHT) on a circle with the radius L.  $\phi$  is the typical value of the scalar moduli which correspond to the location of the horizon in the gravity, which is a free parameter in the Hagedorn regime (e.g. D5).

## A.2.4 6d SYM

The phase diagram for 6d SYM on a circle is shown in figure 3 (LEFT). In this phase diagram, two phases appear and a GL transition occurs between them. One feature of this system is that the D5-brane phase (= smeared D4-brane phase) shows Hagedorn behaviour, as we mentioned in section 2.7. Here the temperature is uniquely fixed as

$$T_H \sim \sqrt{\frac{\Omega_3}{\pi \lambda_5}} \sim \frac{1}{\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\Omega_3}{\lambda_4 L}}$$
 (A.20)

Thus we use the scale of the scalar moduli  $\phi$  as the parameter to draw the phase diagram instead of the temperature. For example the GL transition occurs at  $X \sim L' = \alpha'/L$ , which means that

$$\phi = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} X \sim \frac{L'}{\alpha'} = \frac{1}{L} \,. \tag{A.21}$$

0

This corresponds to the red line in the figure 3.

**IIB NS5-branes from D5-branes.** Another notable feature of this phase diagram is the appearance of NS5-branes. The moduli effective action for NS5-branes in IIB superstring theory can be obtained from the D5-brane theory

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{6dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^5 x \frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 g_s \alpha'^3} \sum_a (\partial X_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^7 g_s^2 \alpha'^4}{\Omega_3} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 g_s \alpha'^3} (\partial X_{ab})^2\right)^2}{X_{ab}^2} + \cdots$$
(A.22)

Where we can rewrite  $g_s = 1/\tilde{g}_s$  and  $\alpha' = \tilde{g}_s \tilde{\alpha}'$  to obtain

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{6dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^5 x \frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} \sum_a (\partial X_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4}{\Omega_3} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} (\partial X_{ab})^2\right)^2}{X_{ab}^2} + \cdots$$
(A.23)

where  $1/(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3$  is the correct tension of the single NS5-brane, and consistent with the moduli effective action (4.3) independently derived from supergravity.

**IIA NS5-branes from IIB NS5-branes.** The NS5-branes in IIA superstring theory is obtained from the T-dual of the IIB NS5-branes. Let us consider the IIB NS5-branes winding a circle with a radius L. This situation appears in the 6d SYM on a circle as we showed in (A.23). See also figure 3 (LEFT). Because of the compact circle, the scalar moduli may be expanded as

$$X_a^I(\tau, x_{1,\dots,5}) = X_a^{I(0)}(\tau, x_{1,\dots,4}) + \sum_{n \neq 0} X_a^{I(n)}(\tau, x_{1,\dots,4}) e^{inx_5/L}$$
(A.24)

Then the moduli effective action (A.23) becomes

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{6dSYM}} = S_0^{\text{6dSYM}} + S_2^{\text{6dSYM}} + \cdots$$

$$S_0^{\text{6dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^4 x \frac{2\pi L}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} \sum_a \left[ (\partial X_a^{(0)})^2 + \sum_{n \neq 0} |\partial X_a^{(n)}|^2 + \frac{n^2}{L^2} |X_a^{(n)}|^2 \right]$$
(A.25)

$$S_2^{\rm 6dSYM} \sim \int d\tau d^4x \frac{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4}{2\pi L \Omega_3} \sum_{a < b} \frac{\left(\frac{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} (\partial X_{ab}^{(\circ)})^2\right)}{\left(X_{ab}^{(0)}\right)^2} + (\text{terms including KK modes}).$$

We rewrite this action by using the parameters  $L' \equiv \tilde{\alpha}'/L$  and  $g'_s \equiv \tilde{g}_s \sqrt{\tilde{\alpha}'}/L$  and obtain

$$S_0^{6dSYM} \sim \int d\tau d^4x \frac{2\pi L'}{(2\pi)^5 g_s'^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} \sum_a \left[ (\partial X_a^{(0)})^2 + \sum_{n \neq 0} |\partial X_a^{(n)}|^2 + \frac{n^2 L'^2}{\tilde{\alpha}'^2} |X_a^{(n)}|^2 \right]$$
(A.26)

$$S_2^{\rm 6dSYM} \sim \int d\tau d^4x \frac{(2\pi)^7 g_s'^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4}{2\pi L' \Omega_3} \sum_{a < b} \frac{\left(\frac{2\pi L'}{(2\pi)^5 g_s'^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} (\partial X_{ab}^{(0)})^2\right)^2}{\left(X_{ab}^{(0)}\right)^2} + (\text{terms including KK modes}) \,.$$

This action can be regarded as IIA NS5-branes winding a circle with radius L'. Thus the 6d SYM theory can describe the moduli dynamics of the IIA NS5-branes. This description may be natural in the region where the IIA NS5-brane geometry is reliable in the supergravity (the region labelled by NS5(IIA) in figure 3 (LEFT)). Note that the KK modes of IIB NS5-branes are mapped to the winding modes of IIA NS5-branes.<sup>22</sup>

**IIA NS5-branes from M5-branes.** NS5-branes in type IIA superstring theory may also be obtained from the dimensional reduction of M5-branes which unwrap the M-theory circle. We see this in the M5-brane moduli theory which would appear, for example, in 6d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>In the worldvolume theory of IIA NS5-branes there are additional scalar moduli, since this theory has an additional scalar field corresponding under T-duality to a component of the 6d Yang-Mills gauge field  $A_{\sigma}$ (where  $\sigma$  denotes the T-duality direction) in the IIB NS5-brane worldvolume theory. (See appendix A.3.) However, we will see our evaluation matches the gravity result without considering these scalar moduli, so we do not discuss them here.

SYM theory on a circle (figure 3 (LEFT)). Because of the compactification, the interaction term of the M5-brane effective action (A.16) is modified

$$S_{2}^{M5} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2}\Omega_{4}l_{pl}^{3}} \int dt d^{5}x \sum_{a < b} \sum_{n} \frac{2\left(\partial_{\mu}\vec{Y}_{ab} \cdot \partial_{\nu}\vec{Y}_{ab}\right)^{2} - \left(\partial_{\mu}\vec{Y}_{ab} \cdot \partial^{\mu}\vec{Y}_{ab}\right)^{2}}{\left|\left(\vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{2} + \left(Y_{ab}^{5} + 2\pi Rn\right)^{2}\right|^{\frac{3}{2}}} \qquad (A.27)$$

$$\sim \frac{(2\pi)^{7}g_{s}^{2}\alpha'^{4}}{\Omega_{3}} \int dt d^{5}x \sum_{a < b} \sum_{n} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{5}g_{s}^{2}\alpha'^{3}}\left(\partial_{\mu}\vec{Y}_{ab}\right)^{2}\right)^{2}}{\left(\vec{X}_{ab}\right)^{2}} \left(1 + \sum_{m \ge 1} e^{-\frac{m|Y^{5}|}{R}} + \cdots\right).$$

Here we have used  $(\vec{Y}) = (\vec{X}, Y^5)$  and (4.12). This interaction term agrees with the NS5brane effective action (A.23) in the limit  $R \to 0$ . In addition, this expansion predicts that non-perturbative corrections of the (2,0) supersymmetric theory on the NS5-branes are similar to the monopole corrections in the three-dimensional SYM theory on the D2branes. (In the (2,0) supersymmetric theory on the NS5-branes,  $Y^5$  can be identified with the scalar field.) This non-perturbative effect cannot be ignored when  $Y \sim R$  and a phase transition may occur there. Indeed in eleven-dimensional supergravity, the GL transition occurs between the smeared black M5-brane and localised M5-branes around  $Y \sim R$ .

## A.2.5 7d SYM

We now turn to 7d SYM on a circle (figure 3 (RIGHT)). In this phase diagram, two phases appear and a GL transition occurs between them. This system also shows Hagedorn behaviour in the localised D5 and NS5-brane phase. One feature of the phase diagram is the appearances of the KK monopole in the IIA superstring and the Taub-NUT in the M-theory.

**NS5-branes from D6-branes.** Let us consider the 7d SYM theory (D6-brane theory) compactified on a circle with the radius L. The moduli action is given by (2.7) with p = 6. Since D6-branes can be mapped to NS5-branes through a T-duality along the circle and S-duality in superstring theory, we expect that this moduli action describes the NS5-branes too. Indeed, if we rewrite the parameters as

$$\tilde{\alpha}' \equiv \frac{g_s(\alpha')^{\frac{3}{2}}}{L}, \quad \tilde{g}_s \equiv \frac{L}{g_s \sqrt{\alpha'}}, \quad \tilde{L} \equiv \frac{\alpha'}{L},$$
(A.28)

× 2

the moduli action (4.3) with p = 6 becomes

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{7\text{dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^5 x \frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} \sum_a (\partial X_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4}{\Omega_3} \sum_n \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} (\partial \vec{X}_{ab})^2\right)^2}{(\vec{X}_{ab})^2 + (X_{ab}^9 + 2\pi n \tilde{L})^2} + \cdots \quad (A.29)$$
$$\sim \int d\tau d^5 x \frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} \sum_a (\partial X_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4}{2\pi \tilde{L} \Omega_2} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^5 \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^3} (\partial \vec{X}_{ab})^2\right)^2}{|\vec{X}_{ab}|} \left(1 + e^{-\frac{|X|}{\tilde{L}}} \cdots\right).$$

This agrees with the moduli action of NS5-branes (A.23) localised on a circle with the radius  $\tilde{L}$ . Here we have taken the compact direction to be  $x^9$  and used (3.1). The second line has been expanded by assuming  $|X| \gg \tilde{L}$ .

A GL phase transition may occur when  $X \sim \tilde{L}$ . Hereafter we focus on the smeared configuration. Via the virial theorem in the action (A.29), the scale of the scalar moduli and thermal energy for the smeared NS5-branes are estimated as

$$X_{\overline{\text{NS5}}}^{(\text{IIB})} \sim \frac{\hat{L}}{\pi^2 N \alpha' T^2}, \qquad E_{\overline{\text{NS5}}}^{(\text{IIB})} \sim \frac{\hat{L}^2}{\pi^7 N \tilde{g}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^5 T^2} V_5.$$
 (A.30)

This is the region labelled by ' $\overline{\text{NS5}}$  (IIB)' in figure 3 (RIGHT). Note that if we rewrite these results by using the original parameters  $\alpha'$ ,  $g_s$  and L, we reproduce those of the black D6-branes (2.44) and (2.36).

**KK monopoles from NS5-branes.** In superstring theory, when  $\tilde{L}$  is small, we may perform a T-duality on  $x^9$  mapping the NS5-branes to Kaluza-Klein monopoles. Correspondingly, if we use the parameters

$$\tilde{\tilde{g}}_s \equiv \tilde{g}_s \frac{\sqrt{\tilde{\alpha}'}}{\tilde{L}}, \quad \tilde{\tilde{L}} \equiv \frac{\tilde{\alpha}'}{\tilde{L}},$$
(A.31)

the NS5-brane moduli effective action (A.29) becomes

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{7\text{dSYM}} \sim \int d\tau d^5 x \frac{(2\pi \tilde{L})^2}{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4} \sum_a (\partial X_a)^2 + \frac{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4}{2\pi \tilde{\tilde{L}} \Omega_2} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\left(\frac{(2\pi \tilde{\tilde{L}})^2}{(2\pi)^7 \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4} (\partial \vec{X}_{ab})^2\right)^2}{|\vec{X}_{ab}|} \left(1 + e^{-\frac{\tilde{\tilde{L}}|X|}{\tilde{\alpha}'}} \cdots\right) + \cdots$$
(A.32)

Since  $(2\pi \tilde{\tilde{L}})^2/(2\pi)^7 \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4$  is the tension of a single Kaluza-Klein monopole, this moduli effective theory describes the moduli dynamics of the KK monopoles in IIA superstring theory.<sup>23</sup> Written in the new parameters the scalar and thermal energy estimates (A.30) become

$$X_{\rm KKM}^{\rm (IIA)} \sim \frac{1}{\pi^2 N \tilde{\tilde{L}} T^2} \qquad E_{\rm KKM}^{\rm (IIA)} \sim \frac{1}{\pi^7 N \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s^2 \tilde{\alpha}'^4 T^2} V_5.$$
 (A.33)

Note that the thermal energy  $E_{\text{KKM}}^{(\text{IIA})}$  does not depend on the radius  $\tilde{\tilde{L}}$ . It is reasonable that this direction is an isometry for KK monopoles.

**Taub-NUT geometry from KK monopoles.** If the coupling in the type IIA KK monopole geometry is very strong, then the geometry lifts to the Taub-NUT geometry in M-theory. In this case we can check the that the thermal energy of the black KK monopole and the black Taub-NUT geometry agree

$$E_{\rm KKM}^{\rm (IIA)} \sim \frac{2\pi \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s \sqrt{\tilde{\alpha}'} V_5}{(2\pi)^8 \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s^3 \tilde{\alpha}'^{\frac{9}{2}} N T^2} = \frac{V_6}{(2\pi)^8 l_{\rm pl}^9 N T^2} \sim E_{\rm TN}$$
(A.34)

where we have used  $V_6 = 2\pi \tilde{\tilde{g}}_s \sqrt{\tilde{\alpha}'} V_5$  and the relation (4.12). In this way, the 7d SYM theory describes the NS5-brane, KK monopole and Taub-NUT geometries through the moduli action. These results agree with the supergravity calculations [66].

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$ Under T-duality, the scalar field  $X^9$  on NS5-branes corresponds to an additional isometry direction wound by KK monopoles, and is mapped to the 0-form field on KK monopoles. The gauge fields on NS5-branes and KK monopoles are the same. (See appendix A.3.)

### A.3 Notes: relation of fields on M5/NS5/D5/KKM

So far we have discussed the connections between moduli theories of the various branes, focusing on the scalar moduli fields. However these moduli theories also involve other bosonic fields. Here we review the mapping of these fields in order to complete the connections of the moduli theories and the Yang-Mills description of the branes in string theory.

Let us list the bosonic fields with physical degrees of freedom on various branes:

- M5-brane:  $B_{\mu\nu}^{(M5)}, X_{(M5)}^{I}$   $(\mu, \nu = 0, \dots, 5, I = 6, \dots, 10)$
- IIA NS5-brane:  $B_{\mu\nu}^{(\text{NS5a})}, C^{(\text{NS5a})}, X_{(\text{NS5a})}^{I}$   $(\mu, \nu = 0, \dots, 5, I = 6, \dots, 9)$
- IIB NS5-brane:  $A^{(\text{NS5b})}_{\mu}, X^{I}_{(\text{NS5b})}$   $(\mu = 0, \dots, 5, I = 6, \dots, 9)$
- D5-brane:  $A^{(D5)}_{\mu}, X^{I}_{(D5)}$   $(\mu = 0, \dots, 5, I = 6, \dots, 9)$
- IIA KK monopole:  $A^{(\text{KKa})}_{\mu}, C^{(\text{KKa})}, X^{I}_{(\text{KKa})}$   $(\mu, \nu = 0, \dots, 5, I = 7, \dots, 9)$
- IIB KK monopole:  $B_{\mu\nu}^{(\text{KKb})}, C^{(\text{KKb})}, \tilde{C}^{(\text{KKb})}, X_{(\text{KKb})}^{I}$   $(\mu, \nu = 0, \dots, 5, I = 7, \dots, 9)$

For KK monopoles, we set the 6th direction as the isometry direction. All the  $B_{\mu\nu}$ 's are self-dual 2-form fields in 6d spacetime. All the C's and the  $\tilde{C}$  are 0-form fields. The relation among these fields are listed below [67].

• The relation between the M5-brane and the IIA NS5-brane via the compactification of the M-theory circle:

$$B_{\mu\nu}^{(M5)} = B_{\mu\nu}^{(NS5a)}, \quad X_{(M5)}^{I} = X_{(NS5a)}^{I}, \quad X_{(M5)}^{10} = C^{(NS5a)}, \quad (A.35)$$

where I = 6, ..., 9. The M-theory circle is along the transverse space of NS5-brane.

• The relation between the IIA NS5-brane and the IIB NS5-brane via T-duality:

$$B_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm NS5a)} = -\tilde{A}_{\mu\nu\tau}^{(\rm NS5b)}, \quad B_{\mu\tau}^{(\rm NS5a)} = -A_{\mu}^{(\rm NS5b)}, \quad C^{(\rm NS5a)} = -A_{\tau}^{(\rm NS5b)}, X_{(\rm NS5a)}^{I} = X_{(\rm NS5b)}^{I},$$
(A.36)

where  $\mu, \nu \neq \tau$ , and the T-duality direction  $\tau$  is along the worldvolume of both NS5-branes.  $\tilde{A}^{(\text{NS5b})}_{\mu\nu\rho}$  is worldvolume dual of  $A^{(\text{NS5b})}_{\mu}$ .

• The relation between the IIB NS5-brane and the D5-brane via S-duality:

$$A^{(\text{NS5b})}_{\mu} = A^{(\text{D5})}_{\mu}, \quad X^{I}_{(\text{NS5b})} = X^{I}_{(\text{D5})}.$$
 (A.37)

• The relation between the IIA KK monopole and the IIB KK monopole via T-duality:

$$\begin{aligned}
A_{\mu}^{(\text{KKa})} &= B_{\mu\tau}^{(\text{KKb})}, \quad A_{\tau}^{(\text{KKa})} = \tilde{C}^{(\text{KKb})}, \quad \tilde{A}_{\mu\nu\tau}^{(\text{KKa})} = B_{\mu\nu}^{(\text{KKb})}, \quad C^{(\text{KKa})} = C^{(\text{KKb})}, \\
X_{(\text{KKa})}^{I} &= X_{(\text{KKb})}^{I}, 
\end{aligned} \tag{A.38}$$

where  $\mu, \nu \neq \tau$ , and the T-duality direction  $\tau$  is along the worldvolume of both KK monopoles.  $\tilde{A}_{\mu\nu\rho}^{(\text{KKa})}$  is worldvolume dual of  $A_{\mu}^{(\text{KKa})}$ .

• The relation between the IIA NS5-brane and the IIB KK monopole via T-duality:

$$B_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm NS5a)} = -B_{\mu\nu}^{(\rm KKb)} + 4\pi \alpha' Z^{(\rm KKb)} \partial_{[\mu} C^{(\rm KKb)} \partial_{\nu]} \tilde{C}^{(\rm KKb)} , \quad C_{(\rm NS5a)} = -\tilde{C}^{(\rm KKb)} ,$$
  

$$X_{(\rm NS5a)}^{6} = 2\pi \alpha' C^{(\rm KKa)} , \qquad \qquad X_{(\rm NS5a)}^{I} = X_{(\rm KKb)}^{I} , \quad (A.39)$$

where I = 7, ..., 9. The T-duality direction is along the transverse space of the NS5-brane and the Taub-NUT direction of KK monopole.  $Z^{(\text{KKb})}$  is the Taub-NUT coordinate of KK monopole.

• The relation between the IIB NS5-brane and the IIA KK monopole via T-duality:

$$A^{(\rm NS5b)}_{\mu} = -A^{(\rm KKa)}_{\mu}, \quad X^6_{(\rm NS5b)} = 2\pi\alpha' C^{(\rm KKa)}, \quad X^I_{(\rm NS5b)} = X^I_{(\rm KKa)}, \qquad (A.40)$$

where I = 7, ..., 9. The T-duality direction is along the transverse space of the NS5-brane and the Taub-NUT direction of KK monopole.

#### **B** Moduli one-loop action with a compact spatial circle

In this appendix we will derive the one-loop moduli action when one of the SYM spatial directions is compact, with radius L, and all fields are taken to be periodic on this. Note that this computation is different (and simpler) than the case discussed in [30] where Euclidean time is compact, but with anti periodic boundary conditions for the fermions.

Using 10-dimensional notation we may write our maximally supersymmetric Yang-Mills as,

$$S = \frac{N}{\lambda} \int dt d^p x \operatorname{Tr} \left[ -\frac{1}{4} F_{MN} F^{MN} - \frac{1}{2} \bar{\Psi} \gamma^M D_M \Psi \right]$$
(B.1)

with  $F_{MN} = \partial_M A_N - \partial_N A_M - i [A_M, A_N]$  and with  $\gamma^M$  in the appropriate Majorana-Weyl representation of SO(1,9). Consider a classical solution of the bosonic equations of motion  $A_M = B_M$  where  $B_M$  is diagonal. Then consider a gauge field constructed by expanding in fluctuations about this diagonal classical solution,  $A_M = B_M + X_M$ , where  $X_M$  is the off-diagonal fluctuation. Adding ghosts and an appropriate gauge fixing term one obtains an action up to quadratic order in fluctuations  $X_M$  and the fermions  $\Psi$ ,

$$S = \frac{N}{\lambda} \int dt d^p x \operatorname{Tr} \left[ L_0 + L_{2,X} + L_{2,\Psi} + L_{g.f.} + L_{\text{ghosts}} + \ldots \right]$$
(B.2)

where the leading term is,

$$L_0 = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{F}_{MN}\bar{F}^{MN}$$
(B.3)

with  $\bar{F}_{MN} = \partial_A B_B - \partial_B B_A$ , and the quadratic terms are  $L_{2,X}$  for the fluctuations  $X^M$  and  $L_{2,\Psi}$  for the fermions, the gauge fixing term  $L_{g.f.}$  which is quadratic in  $X^M$ , and  $L_{\text{ghosts}}$  which is quadratic in the ghosts. There is no linear term in the fluctuation since  $B_M$  is a classical solution. We choose to add the gauge fixing term  $L_{g.f.} = \frac{1}{2}(\bar{D}_A X_A)^2$  where  $\bar{D}_A = \partial_A - i [B_A, \cdot]$ . Then at quadratic order in  $X_M$  one obtains,

$$L_{\text{quad}}^{X} = L_{2,X} + L_{g.f.} = -\frac{1}{2} X_{A} \left[ -\eta_{AB} \bar{D}^{C} \bar{D}_{C} + 2i \left[ \bar{F}_{AB}, \cdot \right] \right] X_{B}$$
(B.4)

and for the fermions,

$$L_{\text{quad}}^{\Psi} = L_{2,\Psi} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\Psi}\gamma^M \bar{D}_M \Psi \,. \tag{B.5}$$

The leading term  $L_0$  yields the classical moduli space action. Integrating out the quadratic fluctuations in  $X_M$ , the fermions  $\Psi$ , and the ghosts, then gives the one-loop correction to this moduli action.

Writing the diagonal matrix with colour indices  $(B^M)_{ab} = a_a^M \delta_{ab}$  in terms of the diagonal moduli fields  $a_a^M = (a_a^\mu, \vec{\phi}_a)$ , then we find the quadratic action,

$$L_{\text{quad}}^{X} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{a \neq b} X_{Aab} \left[ -\eta_{AB} D_{ba}^{2} + 2i F_{AB}^{ba} \right] X_{Bba} , \quad L_{\text{quad}}^{\Psi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{a \neq b} \bar{\Psi}_{ab} \gamma^{M} D_{M}^{ba} \Psi_{ba} \quad (B.6)$$

where,

$$D_M^{ba} = \partial_M - i \left( a_b^M - a_a^M \right) , \quad F_{MN}^{ba} = F_{MN}^b - F_{MN}^a , \text{ and } \quad F_{MN}^a = \partial_M a_{Na} - \partial_N a_{Ma} .$$
(B.7)

Integration over the hermitian off-diagonal boson matrices  $X_M$  and ghosts yields the determinant,

$$e^{i\Gamma_B} = \prod_{a < b} \det \left[ \triangle_{ba} \right]^2 \det \left[ \eta_{MN} \triangle_{ba} + 2iF_{MN}^{ba} \right]^{-1}$$
(B.8)

where,

$$\Delta_{ba} = -D^{C}{}_{ba}D_{Cba} = -\left(\partial_{\mu} - ia_{\mu}{}_{ba}\right)^{2} + |\vec{\phi}_{ba}|^{2}$$
(B.9)

returning now to the (p+1)-notation in the form of  $\triangle_{ba}$ , where  $a^{\mu}_{ab} = a^{\mu}_a - a^{\mu}_b$  and similarly  $\vec{\phi}_{ab} = \vec{\phi}_a - \vec{\phi}_b$ . Integration over the fermions  $\Psi$  gives the contribution,

$$e^{i\Gamma_F} = \prod_{a < b} \det \left[ \mathbb{I} \triangle_{ba} - \frac{i}{4} \left[ \gamma^M, \gamma^N \right] F_{MN}^{ba} \right]^{1/2}.$$
(B.10)

Firstly, we may evaluate the spacetime/spinor index dependence of these determinants as an expansion in the background field strength. We use the results,

$$\det \left[\eta_{MN} \triangle + 2iF_{MN}\right] = \triangle^{10} + \triangle^8 \left(2F_2\right) + \triangle^6 \left(-4F_4 + 2(F_2)^2\right) + O\left(F^6\right)$$
(B.11)

where  $F_2 = F_{MN}F^{MN}$  and  $F_4 = F^M_N F^N_O F^O_P F^P_M$ , and likewise,

$$\det\left[\mathbb{I}\triangle -\frac{i}{4}\left[\gamma^{M},\gamma^{N}\right]F_{MN}\right]^{1/2} = \triangle^{8} + \triangle^{6}\left(2F_{2}\right) + \triangle^{4}\left(2F_{4} + \frac{1}{2}(F_{2})^{2}\right) + O\left(F^{6}\right)$$
(B.12)

and then we see to leading order in the field strength that,

$$\Delta^{2} \det \left[\eta_{MN} \Delta + 2iF_{MN}\right]^{-1} \det \left[ \mathbb{I} \Delta - \frac{i}{4} \left[ \gamma^{M}, \gamma^{N} \right] F_{MN} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= \frac{\Delta^{8} + \Delta^{6} \left( 2F_{2} \right) + \Delta^{4} \left( 2F_{4} + \frac{1}{2}(F_{2})^{2} \right) + \dots}{\Delta^{8} + \Delta^{6} \left( 2F_{2} \right) + \Delta^{4} \left( -4F_{4} + 2(F_{2})^{2} \right) + \dots}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Delta^{4}} \left( \Delta^{4} - 6 \left( \frac{1}{4}(F_{2})^{2} - F_{4} \right) + O(F^{6}) \right).$$
 (B.13)

Thus we deduce that to leading order in the field strength,

$$e^{i\Gamma_{\text{eff}}} = e^{i\left(\Gamma_B + \Gamma_F\right)}$$
$$= \prod_{a < b} \left(\det \bigtriangleup_{ba}^4\right)^{-1} \det \left[\bigtriangleup_{ba}^4 - 6\left(\frac{1}{4}\left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^2 - F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NO}^{ab}F_{OP}^{ab}F_{PM}^{ab}\right)\right]. \quad (B.14)$$

Now we must evaluate these functional determinants. We wish to consider the case of our (p+1)-dimensional SYM where the  $x^p$  spatial direction is compact with radius L, and all fields are periodic on this circle. Firstly consider the (real time) functional determinant,

$$e^{i\Gamma} = \det\left[\triangle + M\right], \qquad \Delta = -\left(\partial_{\mu} - ia_{\mu}\right)^2 + \phi^2$$
 (B.15)

for a constant M, with  $a^{\mu}$  and  $\phi$  constant, and  $\mu = 0, 1, \ldots, d-1$ . Consider the heat equation,

$$\partial_{\sigma} U(\sigma; x, x') = -(\Delta_x + M) U(\sigma; x, x').$$
(B.16)

Taking the boundary condition that  $U(0; x, x') = \delta(x - x')$ , then  $U(\sigma; x, x')$  is the heat kernel, and we may represent the one-loop action due to this determinant as an appropriate trace of this heat kernel,

$$\Gamma = -\int dt d^{d-1}x \int_0^\infty \frac{d\sigma}{\sigma} U(\sigma; x, x) \,. \tag{B.17}$$

For constant  $a^{\mu}$ ,  $\phi$  and M then the solution to this heat kernel is,

$$U(\sigma; x, x') = \frac{1}{(4\pi\sigma)^{d/2}} e^{-\sigma(\phi^2 + M)} e^{-\frac{1}{4\sigma}|x - x'|^2 + ia^{\mu}(x - x')_{\mu}}.$$
 (B.18)

Hence we may use this heat kernel to represent our determinant as,

$$\Gamma = -\int dt \, d^{d-1}x \int_0^\infty d\sigma \frac{1}{\sqrt{(4\pi)^d \sigma^{d+2}}} e^{-\sigma(\phi^2 + M)}$$
(B.19)

and we may use this to compute,

$$e^{i\Gamma'} = \det\left[\triangle^4 - M^4\right] = \det\left[\triangle + M\right] \det\left[\triangle - M\right] \det\left[\triangle + iM\right] \det\left[\triangle - iM\right] \tag{B.20}$$

as,

$$\Gamma' = -\int dt \, d^{d-1}x \int_0^\infty d\sigma \frac{1}{\sqrt{(4\pi)^d \sigma^{d+2}}} e^{-\sigma\phi^2} \left( e^{+\sigma M} + e^{-\sigma M} + e^{i\sigma M} + e^{-i\sigma M} \right).$$
(B.21)

Now take d = p + 1 and let us we have one compact spatial dimension, say  $x^p$ , with radius L, so  $x^p \sim x^p + 2\pi L$ . Then we may split,  $x^{\mu} = (x^{\bar{\mu}}, x^p)$ , where now  $\bar{\mu} = 0, 1, \dots, p-1$ . For a periodic field on the compact circle we may expand the determinant in Fourier modes as,

$$\det\left[\triangle + M\right] = \prod_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \det'\left[\bar{\triangle} + \left(\frac{n}{L} - a^p\right)^2 + M\right]$$
(B.22)

JHEP07(2015)047

where now,  $\bar{\Delta} = -(\partial_{\bar{\mu}} - ia_{\bar{\mu}})^2 + \phi^2$  and det' signifies the determinant is taken over the continuous momenta of the non-compact  $x^{\bar{\mu}}$  coordinates. Now we see that evaluating  $e^{i\Gamma'} = \det \left[ \Delta^4 - M^4 \right]$  for this compact spatial circle yields,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma' &= -\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int dt \, d^{p-1} x \int_0^\infty d\sigma \frac{1}{\sqrt{(4\pi)^p \sigma^{p+2}}} e^{-\sigma \left(\phi^2 + \left(\frac{n}{L} - a^p\right)^2\right)} \left(e^{+\sigma M} + e^{-\sigma M} + e^{i\sigma M} + e^{-i\sigma M}\right) \\ &\simeq -\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int dt \, d^{p-1} x \int_0^\infty d\sigma \frac{1}{\sqrt{(4\pi)^p \sigma^{p+2}}} e^{-\sigma \left(\phi^2 + \left(\frac{n}{L} - a^p\right)^2\right)} \left(4 + \frac{1}{6} \sigma^4 M^4 + O(M^6)\right) \quad (B.23) \end{split}$$

to leading order in powers of M. Note that if we account for the fact that  $a^{\mu}$  and  $\phi$  are not constant we will obtain corrections which involve gradients of  $a^{\mu}$  (via its field strength) and  $\phi$ , as,

$$\Gamma' \simeq -\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int dt \, d^{p-1} x \int_0^\infty d\sigma \frac{1}{\sqrt{(4\pi)^p \sigma^{p+2}}} e^{-\sigma \left(\phi^2 + \left(\frac{n}{L} - a^p\right)^2\right)} \left(4 + \frac{1}{6} \sigma^4 M^4 + O(M^6)\right) \left(1 + O\left(F_{\mu\nu}^2, (\partial\phi)^2\right)\right). \tag{B.24}$$

Now using this determinant we may evaluate our SYM one-loop contribution (B.14) as,

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff}} = -\sum_{a < b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int dt \, d^{p-1} x \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \frac{1}{\sqrt{(4\pi)^{p} \sigma^{p+2}}} e^{-\sigma \left(\left|\vec{\phi}_{ba}\right|^{2} + \left(\frac{n}{L} - a_{ba}^{p}\right)^{2}\right)} \\
\times \left(\sigma^{4} \left(\frac{1}{4} \left(F_{MN}^{ab} F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2} - F_{MN}^{ab} F_{NO}^{ab} F_{OP}^{ab} F_{PM}^{ab}\right) + O\left((F_{MN}^{a})^{6}\right)\right) \tag{B.25}$$

and now performing the  $\sigma$  integral we obtain,

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff}} = -\sum_{a < b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int dt d^{p-1} x \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{8-p}{2}\right)}{(4\pi)^{\frac{p}{2}}} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} \left(F_{MN}^{ab} F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^2 - F_{MN}^{ab} F_{NO}^{ab} F_{OP}^{ab} F_{PM}^{ab}\right)}{\left(\left(\frac{n}{L} - a_{ba}^p\right)^2 + \left|\vec{\phi}_{ba}\right|^2\right)^{\frac{8-p}{2}}} + O\left((F_{MN}^a)^6\right).$$
(B.26)

Then reinstating the compact  $x^p$  integral, writing the coefficient in terms of an (9 - p)-sphere volume, and continuing to Euclidean time, so that  $\tau = it$  and the Euclidean one-loop contribution to the action is  $\Gamma_{\text{eff}}^E$  is given as  $\Gamma_{\text{eff}} = i\Gamma_{\text{eff}}^E$ , then,

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff}}^{E} = -\sum_{a < b} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \int d\tau d^{p-1} x \frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx^{p} \frac{(2\pi)^{5-p}}{32(8-p)\Omega_{(9-p)}} \frac{\left(4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NO}^{ab}F_{OP}^{ab}F_{PM}^{ab} - \left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2}\right)}{\left(\left(\frac{n}{L} - a_{ba}^{p}\right)^{2} + \left|\vec{\phi}_{ba}\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{8-p}{2}}} + O\left((F_{MN}^{a})^{6}\right) \tag{B.27}$$

giving the result (3.1) in the main text. We note that in reinstating the integral it appears we have neglected field dependence in the  $x^p$  direction. However, to leading order in derivatives, including such dependence will not change the result. Since we are working in a gradient expansion, we have already assumed that field variation in the  $x^p$  direction, or indeed any other direction, is controlled. Let us briefly consider recovering the one-loop term for the de-compactified  $L \to \infty$ limit in equation (2.10). We note that we may write the infinite sum as,

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{8-p}{2}\right)}{\left(\left(\frac{n}{L}-a\right)^2 + \left|\vec{\phi}\right|^2\right)^{\frac{8-p}{2}}}$$
(B.28)  
$$= \Gamma\left(\frac{7-p}{2}\right) \sqrt{\pi} L |\vec{\phi}|^{-(7-p)} + \frac{2^{-\frac{5-p}{2}} (2\pi L)^{8-p}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{n}{2\pi L |\vec{\phi}|}\right)^{\frac{7-p}{2}} K_{-\frac{7-p}{2}} \left(2\pi n L |\vec{\phi}|\right) \cos\left(2\pi n L a\right)$$

and then for  $L\left|\vec{\phi}\right| \to \infty$  we find,

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{8-p}{2}\right)}{\left(\left(\frac{n}{L}-a\right)^2 + \left|\vec{\phi}\right|^2\right)^{\frac{8-p}{2}}} \simeq \Gamma\left(\frac{7-p}{2}\right)\sqrt{\pi}L|\vec{\phi}|^{-(7-p)}$$
(B.29)

plus exponentially small corrections, and thus in this de-compactified limit,

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff}} = -\sum_{a < b} \int dt d^{p-1} x \frac{1}{2\pi L} \int_{0}^{2\pi L} dx^{p} \left( \frac{\sqrt{\pi} L\Gamma\left(\frac{7-p}{2}\right)}{(4\pi)^{\frac{p}{2}}} \right) \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} \left(F_{MN}^{ab} F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2} - F_{MN}^{ab} F_{NO}^{ab} F_{OP}^{ab} F_{PM}^{ab}\right)}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ba}\right|^{7-p}} + O\left((F_{MN}^{a})^{6}\right) \tag{B.30}$$

and hence,

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff}}^{E} = -\sum_{a < b} \int d\tau d^{p-1} x \int dx^{p} \frac{(2\pi)^{4-p}}{32(7-p)\Omega_{(8-p)}} \frac{\left(4F_{MN}^{ab}F_{NO}^{ab}F_{OP}^{ab}F_{PM}^{ab} - \left(F_{MN}^{ab}F_{MN}^{ab}\right)^{2}\right)}{\left|\vec{\phi}_{ba}\right|^{7-p}} + O\left((F_{MN}^{a})^{6}\right) \tag{B.31}$$

which gives the result in equation (2.10).

#### C Moduli theory and the boosted Schwarzschild black hole

As discussed in 4.3, a phase transition occurs in the N D0-brane theory at low temperature, related to a GL transition of the boosted black string in eleven dimensions. The low temperature phase is related to the boosted Schwarzschild black hole which carries momentum N/R, localised on the M-theory circle of radius R. A similar transition also occurs in the wave theory (A.7) too. In this appendix, we review how the moduli theory explains the boosted Schwarzschild black hole. We begin by reviewing the boosted Schwarzschild black hole in gravity in C.1 and then turn to the moduli theory description in C.2.

#### C.1 Boosted Schwarzschild black hole on a circle

Let us consider a D-dimensional Schwarzschild black hole boosted along a compact circle of radius R. To begin, the D-dimensional Schwarzschild black hole solution is

$$ds^{2} = -fdt^{2} + \frac{1}{f}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{D-2}^{2}, \qquad f = 1 - \left(\frac{r_{0}}{r}\right)^{D-3}$$
(C.1)

with mass M and entropy S given by

$$M = \frac{\Omega_{D-2}}{2\kappa_D^2} (D-2) r_0^{D-3}, \qquad S = \frac{2\pi\Omega_{D-2}}{\kappa_D^2} r_0^{D-2}.$$
 (C.2)

Here  $\kappa_D^2$  is the *D*-dimensional gravitational coupling. Now we boost this solution along the *D*-th direction with the boost parameter  $\alpha$ . The energy *E* and the *D*-th momentum *P* become  $E = M \cosh \alpha$  and  $P = M \sinh \alpha$ , respectively. The event horizon does not Lorentz contract [25] and the entropy does not change. We compactify the *D*-th direction with the radius *R*, and take  $\alpha$  large by keeping  $E_{\rm LC} = E - P$  finite, where P = N/R. This condition fixes  $e^{\alpha} = 2N/RM$  and  $E_{\rm LC} = RM^2/2N$ . Then the temperature is obtained by  $T = dE_{\rm LC}/dS$ , and we can write down the physical quantities as functions of temperature,

$$r_{0} = \left(\frac{8\pi N\kappa_{D}^{2}T}{(D-2)(D-3)\Omega_{D-2}R}\right)^{\frac{1}{D-4}}, \quad E_{\rm LC} = \left(\frac{\kappa_{D}^{2}}{(D-2)\Omega_{D-2}}\right)^{\frac{2}{D-4}} \left(\frac{8N}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-2}{D-4}} \left(\frac{\pi T}{D-3}\right)^{\frac{2(D-3)}{D-4}},$$
$$S = (2\pi)^{\frac{2(D-3)}{D-4}} \left(\frac{\kappa_{D}^{2}}{\Omega_{D-2}}\right)^{\frac{2}{D-4}} \left(\frac{4NT}{(D-3)(D-2)R}\right)^{\frac{D-2}{D-4}}.$$
(C.3)

Note that these expressions are valid when the size of the horizon  $r_0$  is much smaller than the size of the boosted compact circle  $e^{\alpha}R$ . In the case where the horizon size is comparable to the circle size, finite volume effects cannot be ignored. In particular, a Gregory-Laflamme transition to a black string occurs when  $r_0 \sim e^{\alpha}R$ . This implies that the transition occurs around  $S \sim N$ . Thus an expression for the critical temperature of the transition is given by,

$$T_c \sim \frac{R}{(\kappa_D^4 N^2)^{\frac{1}{D-2}}}.$$
 (C.4)

Beyond this temperature, the stable configuration is the boosted black string which is equivalent to the D-1-dimensional black 0-brane with  $\mu = 1/R$  and  $\kappa^2 = \kappa_D^2/2\pi R$ . Its energy and the horizon radius are given as

$$E = \frac{(D-2)\Omega_{D-3}}{4} \frac{2\pi R}{\kappa_D^2} z_0^{D-4}, \qquad r_0 = \left(\frac{2^4 \pi N T^2 \kappa_D^2}{(D-4)^3 \Omega_{D-3} R^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{D-6}}$$
(C.5)

#### C.2 Boosted Schwarzschild black hole from moduli theory

We now argue how the *D*-dimensional boosted Schwarzschild black hole in the previous subsection can be explained using the moduli theory [35] for the 0-brane in D-1 dimensions,

$$S_{\text{moduli}} = \int d\tau \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{N} \frac{1}{R} \left( \partial_{\tau} X_{a} \right)^{2} - \int d\tau \sum_{a,b=1}^{N} \frac{\kappa_{D}^{2}}{8\pi R (D-4)\Omega_{D-3}} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{R} (\partial_{\tau} X_{ab})^{2}\right)^{2}}{X_{ab}^{D-4}} + \cdots \quad (C.6)$$

Here we have taken the Newton constant  $\kappa_{D-1}^2 = \kappa_D^2/2\pi R$  and the mass of the 0-brane  $\mu = 1/R$  by noting that the 0-branes are obtained from the dimensional reduction of the *D*-dimensional wave.

As discussed in section 4.3, Li and Martinec [28] considered the contribution of the zero-energy bound state in the 0-brane system. They argued that if the 0-branes form M

zero-energy bound states, the effective action (C.6) gets modified to (from now on we omit numerical factors, except factors of  $\pi$ )

$$S_{\text{moduli}}^{\text{bound}} = \int d\tau \sum_{a=1}^{M} m_{\text{bd}} \left(\partial_{\tau} X_{a}\right)^{2} - \int d\tau \sum_{\delta p_{-}=0}^{N/M} \sum_{a,b=1}^{M} f_{D}(\delta p_{-}) \frac{\kappa_{D}^{2}}{\pi R \Omega_{D-3}} \frac{\left(m_{\text{bd}}(\partial_{\tau} X_{ab})^{2}\right)^{2}}{X_{ab}^{D-4}} + \cdots$$
(C.7)

Here the 0-branes in each bound state is N/M and the mass of the bound state is equal to  $m_{\rm bd} \equiv \frac{N}{M} \frac{1}{R}$ .  $f_D(p_-)$  symbolically represents the effect of the exchanges of the longitudinal momentum in the four point interaction of the bound states. [28] found that if M is assumed to be the same order as the entropy of the system, then the boosted black hole thermodynamics is reproduced from the effective action (C.7) with an assumption  $f(p_-) \sim 1$ . We review this derivation in a slightly different way<sup>24</sup> based on our moduli effective action proposal. We assume  $\partial X \sim \pi T X$  and estimate the classical and the interaction terms of the effective action as

$$S_{\text{classical}} \sim \frac{N}{R} \pi^2 T X^2, \qquad S_{\text{one-loop}} \sim \frac{N}{M} \left( \frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}} \right) \frac{\pi^4 N^2 T^3}{R^3 X^{D-8}}.$$
 (C.8)

Here we have assumed  $f_D(p_-) = f_D$  is a constant. Then we obtain

$$X \sim \left( \left( \frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}} \right) \frac{N^2 \pi^2 T^2}{M R^2} \right)^{\frac{1}{D-6}}$$
(C.9)

through the virial theorem, and the total energy is estimated as

$$E \sim \left(\frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{D-6}} \left(\frac{N}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-2}{D-6}} \frac{(\pi T)^{\frac{2(D-4)}{D-6}}}{M^{\frac{2}{D-6}}}.$$
 (C.10)

Now we assume

$$S_{\text{entropy}} \sim \pi M,$$
 (C.11)

just as [28] assumed that the number of bound states is the same order as the entropy. The  $\pi$  dependence in this assumption will be explained later. Then we substitute an ansatz  $E = CS_{\text{entropy}}^x$  and  $T = \partial E/\partial S_{\text{entropy}} = xCS_{\text{entropy}}^{x-1}$  into this equation, and we can solve for x and C as

$$x = \frac{2(D-3)}{D-2}, \qquad C \sim \frac{R}{N} \left(\frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}\right)^{-\frac{2}{D-2}} \pi^{-\frac{2(D-3)}{D-2}}.$$
 (C.12)

Thus we obtain

$$E \sim \frac{R}{N} \left(\frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}\right)^{-\frac{2}{D-2}} \pi^{-\frac{2(D-3)}{D-2}} S^{\frac{2(D-3)}{D-2}} \sim \left(\frac{N}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-2}{D-4}} \left(\frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{D-4}} (\pi T)^{\frac{2(D-3)}{D-4}},$$

<sup>24</sup>Li and Martinec's derivation [28] and ours are slightly different although the results are same. They used three assumptions: (I) the saturation of the uncertainty relation  $p_{\rm bd}X \sim m_{\rm bd}(\partial_{\tau}X)X \sim 1$ , (II) the number of bound states M in eq. (C.7) is the same order as the entropy of the system,  $M \sim S_{\rm entropy}$  and (III) the amplitude satisfies  $f(p_{-}) \sim O(1)$ . In our derivation, instead of the assumption (I), we assume  $\partial_{\tau}X \sim \pi TX$ , since we know that this assumption gives correct results for the black branes discussed in section 2. In addition, [28] did not evaluate the thermodynamics of the IIA D0-brane black hole at  $T > T_c$ where their assumption (I) does not work.

$$S_{\text{entropy}} \sim \pi^{\frac{2(D-3)}{D-4}} \left(\frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{D-4}} \left(\frac{NT}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-2}{D-4}},$$
$$X \sim \left(\left(\frac{f_D \kappa_D^2}{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}\right) \frac{N\pi T}{R}\right)^{\frac{1}{D-4}}.$$
(C.13)

If we assume  $f_D \sim O(1)$ , these results are consistent with the thermodynamics of the boosted Schwarzschild black hole (C.3) except the  $\pi$  dependence. To reproduce the  $\pi$  dependence, we need to impose

$$f_D \sim \frac{\pi \Omega_{D-3}}{\Omega_{D-2}}.$$
 (C.14)

What do these results mean? Although we have employed several assumptions, since we reproduce the supergravity predictions we do capture the correct nature of the matrix quantum mechanics at low temperature. Li and Martinec pointed out that  $p_{bd}X \sim m_{bd}(\partial_{\tau}X)X \sim 1$  is satisfied at the localised black hole phase, where  $p_{bd}$  is the momentum of the bound state, and the uncertainty relation seems saturated. Presumably the amplitude  $f(p_{-})$  somehow becomes O(1) when the uncertainty relation is saturated.<sup>25</sup> This feature might be related to the instability of the D-1 dimensional black 0-brane (C.5). Indeed in this configuration, the single 0-brane satisfies

$$pX \sim \frac{1}{R} \left( \partial_{\tau} X \right) X \sim \left( \frac{T}{T_c} \right)^{\frac{D-2}{D-6}} < 1, \qquad (T < T_c, D > 6)$$
 (C.15)

where  $T_c$  is given by (C.4) and the uncertainty relation seems violated.<sup>26</sup>

Finally we comment on the  $\pi$  dependence of the calculations in this section. In the calculations, we have used three assumptions:  $\partial_{\tau} X \sim \pi T X$ ,  $S_{\text{entropy}} \sim \pi M$  and  $f_D \sim \pi \Omega_{D-3}/\Omega_{D-2}$ . We do not have any natural reason to fix the  $\pi$  dependences in these equations. The first assumption  $\partial_{\tau} X \sim \pi T X$  is consistent with various branes as argued in section 2.3, and it may be natural to impose the same  $\pi$  dependence in the current case too. Concerning  $S_{\text{entropy}} \sim \pi M$ , we fixed the  $\pi$  dependence so that the saturation of the uncertainty relation  $p_{\text{bd}} X \sim m_{\text{bd}} (\partial_{\tau} X) X \sim 1$  is satisfied, including the  $\pi$  dependence. (We should emphasise that there is no reason that we expect the saturation of the uncertainty relation follows from the first two assumptions. The last assumption  $f_D \sim \pi \Omega_{D-3}/\Omega_{D-2}$ , would need to be confirmed, for instance by calculating the scattering of bound states. We leave this challenging issue for future work.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>If we assume that  $f(p_{-}) \sim O(1)$  is satisfied at arbitrary number of the bound states M, we may obtain a configuration which has a larger entropy and it will be favoured thermodynamically. Since this result is inconsistent with the supergravity prediction,  $f(p_{-}) \sim O(1)$  may be not always satisfied.

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>D = 6$  is the Hagedorn case. In D = 5, the black holes have negative specific heat and the 4 dimensional black 0-brane is stable at  $T < T_c$ . Again the uncertainty relation is broken when the black 0-brane is unstable at  $T > T_c$ .

#### References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] N. Itzhaki, J.M. Maldacena, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, Supergravity and the large-N limit of theories with sixteen supercharges, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 046004 [hep-th/9802042] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.W. Peet, Entropy and temperature of black 3-branes, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 3915 [hep-th/9602135] [INSPIRE].
- [4] O. Aharony, S.S. Gubser, J.M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri and Y. Oz, Large-N field theories, string theory and gravity, Phys. Rept. 323 (2000) 183 [hep-th/9905111] [INSPIRE].
- [5] D.N. Kabat and G. Lifschytz, Approximations for strongly coupled supersymmetric quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 571 (2000) 419 [hep-th/9910001] [INSPIRE].
- [6] D.N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D.A. Lowe, Black hole thermodynamics from calculations in strongly coupled gauge theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 16 (2001) 856 [Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 1426] [hep-th/0007051] [INSPIRE].
- [7] D.N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D.A. Lowe, Black hole entropy from nonperturbative gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 124015 [hep-th/0105171] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, Y. Wang and X. Yin, A low temperature expansion for matrix quantum mechanics, JHEP 05 (2015) 136 [arXiv:1304.1593] [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. Catterall and T. Wiseman, Towards lattice simulation of the gauge theory duals to black holes and hot strings, JHEP 12 (2007) 104 [arXiv:0706.3518] [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Hanada, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Non-lattice simulation for supersymmetric gauge theories in one dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 161602 [arXiv:0706.1647] [INSPIRE].
- [11] K.N. Anagnostopoulos, M. Hanada, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Monte Carlo studies of supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics with sixteen supercharges at finite temperature, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **100** (2008) 021601 [arXiv:0707.4454] [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Catterall and T. Wiseman, Black hole thermodynamics from simulations of lattice Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 041502 [arXiv:0803.4273] [INSPIRE].
- [13] D. Kadoh and S. Kamata, One dimensional supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory with 16 supercharges, PoS(LATTICE 2012)064 [arXiv:1212.4919] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Hanada, Y. Hyakutake, G. Ishiki and J. Nishimura, Holographic description of quantum black hole on a computer, Science 344 (2014) 882 [arXiv:1311.5607] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Catterall, A. Joseph and T. Wiseman, Thermal phases of D1-branes on a circle from lattice super Yang-Mills, JHEP 12 (2010) 022 [arXiv:1008.4964] [INSPIRE].
- [16] C.T. Asplund, D. Berenstein and E. Dzienkowski, Large-N classical dynamics of holographic matrix models, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 084044 [arXiv:1211.3425] [INSPIRE].
- [17] T. Banks, W. Fischler, S.H. Shenker and L. Susskind, *M theory as a matrix model: a conjecture*, *Phys. Rev.* D 55 (1997) 5112 [hep-th/9610043] [INSPIRE].
- [18] K. Becker, M. Becker, J. Polchinski and A.A. Tseytlin, Higher order graviton scattering in M(atrix) theory, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 3174 [hep-th/9706072] [INSPIRE].

- [19] Y. Okawa and T. Yoneya, Multibody interactions of D particles in supergravity and matrix theory, Nucl. Phys. B 538 (1999) 67 [hep-th/9806108] [INSPIRE].
- [20] Y. Kazama and T. Muramatsu, On the supersymmetry and gauge structure of matrix theory, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 171 [hep-th/0003161] [INSPIRE].
- [21] I.L. Buchbinder, A.Y. Petrov and A.A. Tseytlin, Two loop N = 4 super Yang-Mills effective action and interaction between D3-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 621 (2002) 179 [hep-th/0110173] [INSPIRE].
- [22] J.-H. Baek, S. Hyun, W. Jang and S.-H. Yi, Membrane dynamics in three dimensional N = 6 supersymmetric Chern-Simons theory, arXiv:0812.1772 [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Paban, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Constraints from extended supersymmetry in quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 534 (1998) 137 [hep-th/9805018] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Paban, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Supersymmetry and higher derivative terms in the effective action of Yang-Mills theories, JHEP 06 (1998) 012 [hep-th/9806028] [INSPIRE].
- [25] G.T. Horowitz and E.J. Martinec, Comments on black holes in matrix theory, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 4935 [hep-th/9710217] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M. Li, Matrix Schwarzschild black holes in large-N limit, JHEP 01 (1998) 009
   [hep-th/9710226] [INSPIRE].
- [27] T. Banks, W. Fischler, I.R. Klebanov and L. Susskind, Schwarzschild black holes in matrix theory. 2, JHEP 01 (1998) 008 [hep-th/9711005] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Li and E.J. Martinec, Probing matrix black holes, hep-th/9801070 [INSPIRE].
- [29] A.V. Smilga, Comments on thermodynamics of supersymmetric matrix models, Nucl. Phys. B 818 (2009) 101 [arXiv:0812.4753] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T. Wiseman, On black hole thermodynamics from super Yang-Mills, JHEP 07 (2013) 101 [arXiv:1304.3938] [INSPIRE].
- [31] D.E. Berenstein, J.M. Maldacena and H.S. Nastase, Strings in flat space and pp waves from N = 4 super Yang-Mills, JHEP 04 (2002) 013 [hep-th/0202021] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M.S. Costa, L. Greenspan, J. Penedones and J. Santos, Thermodynamics of the BMN matrix model at strong coupling, JHEP 03 (2015) 069 [arXiv:1411.5541] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Morita and S. Shiba, Thermodynamics of black M-branes from SCFTs, JHEP 07 (2013) 100 [arXiv:1305.0789] [INSPIRE].
- [34] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N = 6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
   [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [35] T. Morita, S. Shiba, T. Wiseman and B. Withers, Warm p-soup and near extremal black holes, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 085001 [arXiv:1311.6540] [INSPIRE].
- [36] T. Morita and S. Shiba, Microstates of D1-D5(-P) black holes as interacting D-branes, Phys. Lett. B 747 (2015) 164 [arXiv:1410.8319] [INSPIRE].
- [37] E.J. Martinec and V. Sahakian, Black holes and the super Yang-Mills phase diagram. 2, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 124005 [hep-th/9810224] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L. Susskind, Matrix theory black holes and the Gross-Witten transition, hep-th/9805115 [INSPIRE].

- [39] J.L.F. Barbon, I.I. Kogan and E. Rabinovici, On stringy thresholds in SYM/AdS thermodynamics, Nucl. Phys. B 544 (1999) 104 [hep-th/9809033] [INSPIRE].
- [40] O. Aharony, J. Marsano, S. Minwalla and T. Wiseman, Black hole-black string phase transitions in thermal 1+1 dimensional supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory on a circle, Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004) 5169 [hep-th/0406210] [INSPIRE].
- [41] G. Mandal, M. Mahato and T. Morita, Phases of one dimensional large-N gauge theory in a 1/D expansion, JHEP 02 (2010) 034 [arXiv:0910.4526] [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Mandal and T. Morita, Phases of a two dimensional large-N gauge theory on a torus, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 085007 [arXiv:1103.1558] [INSPIRE].
- [43] A.W. Peet and J. Polchinski, UV/IR relations in AdS dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 065011 [hep-th/9809022] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J. Ambjørn, Y.M. Makeenko and G.W. Semenoff, Thermodynamics of D0-branes in matrix theory, Phys. Lett. B 445 (1999) 307 [hep-th/9810170] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Hotta, J. Nishimura and A. Tsuchiya, Dynamical aspects of large-N reduced models, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 543 [hep-th/9811220] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J.A. Harvey, G.W. Moore and A. Strominger, *Reducing S duality to T duality*, *Phys. Rev.* D 52 (1995) 7161 [hep-th/9501022] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Bershadsky, A. Johansen, V. Sadov and C. Vafa, Topological reduction of 4D SYM to 2D  $\sigma$ -models, Nucl. Phys. B 448 (1995) 166 [hep-th/9501096] [INSPIRE].
- [48] R. Dijkgraaf, E.P. Verlinde and H.L. Verlinde, Matrix string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 500 (1997) 43 [hep-th/9703030] [INSPIRE].
- [49] A. Jevicki, Y. Kazama and T. Yoneya, Generalized conformal symmetry in D-brane matrix models, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 066001 [hep-th/9810146] [INSPIRE].
- [50] I. Kanitscheider, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Precision holography for non-conformal branes, JHEP 09 (2008) 094 [arXiv:0807.3324] [INSPIRE].
- [51] G.T. Horowitz and J. Polchinski, A correspondence principle for black holes and strings, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 6189 [hep-th/9612146] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.A. Tseytlin, Coupling constant dependence in the thermodynamics of N = 4 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 534 (1998) 202
   [hep-th/9805156] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Hanada, Y. Hyakutake, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Higher derivative corrections to black hole thermodynamics from supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 191602 [arXiv:0811.3102] [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Hanada, A. Miwa, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Schwarzschild radius from Monte Carlo calculation of the Wilson loop in supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 181602 [arXiv:0811.2081] [INSPIRE].
- [55] G.T. Horowitz and R.C. Myers, The AdS/CFT correspondence and a new positive energy conjecture for general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1998) 026005 [hep-th/9808079] [INSPIRE].
- [56] O. Aharony et al., The phase structure of low dimensional large-N gauge theories on tori, JHEP 01 (2006) 140 [hep-th/0508077] [INSPIRE].
- [57] G. Mandal and T. Morita, Gregory-Laflamme as the confinement/deconfinement transition in holographic QCD, JHEP 09 (2011) 073 [arXiv:1107.4048] [INSPIRE].

- [58] R. Gregory and R. Laflamme, Black strings and p-branes are unstable, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 2837 [hep-th/9301052] [INSPIRE].
- [59] G.T. Horowitz and T. Wiseman, General black holes in Kaluza-Klein theory, arXiv:1107.5563 [INSPIRE].
- [60] N. Kawahara, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, *Phase structure of matrix quantum mechanics* at finite temperature, *JHEP* **10** (2007) 097 [arXiv:0706.3517] [INSPIRE].
- [61] T. Azuma, T. Morita and S. Takeuchi, Hagedorn instability in dimensionally reduced large-N gauge theories as Gregory-Laflamme and Rayleigh-Plateau instabilities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 091603 [arXiv:1403.7764] [INSPIRE].
- [62] W. Taylor, D-brane field theory on compact spaces, Phys. Lett. B 394 (1997) 283
   [hep-th/9611042] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. Polchinski and P. Pouliot, Membrane scattering with M momentum transfer, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 6601 [hep-th/9704029] [INSPIRE].
- [64] N. Dorey, V.V. Khoze and M.P. Mattis, Multi-instantons, three-dimensional gauge theory and the Gauss-Bonnet-Chern theorem, Nucl. Phys. B 502 (1997) 94 [hep-th/9704197] [INSPIRE].
- [65] C. Fraser and D. Tong, Instantons, three-dimensional gauge theories and monopole moduli spaces, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 085001 [hep-th/9710098] [INSPIRE].
- [66] E.J. Martinec and V. Sahakian, Black holes and five-brane thermodynamics, Phys. Rev. D
   60 (1999) 064002 [hep-th/9901135] [INSPIRE].
- [67] E. Eyras, B. Janssen and Y. Lozano, Five-branes, KK monopoles and T duality, Nucl. Phys. B 531 (1998) 275 [hep-th/9806169] [INSPIRE].